

Prepared in cooperation with the Washington State Department of Ecology

# Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to the Lower Duwamish Waterway near Seattle, Washington, 2013–15



Data Series 973

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

**Cover:** Photographs of the Duwamish River at the bridge at U.S. Geological Survey streamgage 12113390 during baseline conditions, January 4, 2013 (left), as compared to near-flood conditions driven by precipitation and operations at the Howard Hanson Dam in the upper watershed, March 7, 2015 (right). Photographs by Kathleen Conn, U.S. Geological Survey.

# Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to the Lower Duwamish Waterway near Seattle, Washington, 2013–15

By Kathleen E. Conn, Robert W. Black, Ann M. Vanderpool-Kimura, James R. Foreman, Norman T. Peterson, Craig A. Senter, and Stephen K. Sissel

Prepared in cooperation with the Washington State Department of Ecology

Data Series 973

U.S. Department of the Interior U.S. Geological Survey

### **U.S. Department of the Interior**

SALLY JEWELL, Secretary

#### **U.S. Geological Survey**

Suzette M. Kimball, Acting Director

U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, Virginia: 2015

For more information on the USGS—the Federal source for science about the Earth, its natural and living resources, natural hazards, and the environment—visit http://www.usgs.gov or call 1–888–ASK–USGS.

For an overview of USGS information products, including maps, imagery, and publications, visit http://www.usgs.gov/pubprod/.

Any use of trade, firm, or product names is for descriptive purposes only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Government.

Although this information product, for the most part, is in the public domain, it also may contain copyrighted materials as noted in the text. Permission to reproduce copyrighted items must be secured from the copyright owner.

Suggested citation:

Conn, K.E., Black, R.W., Vanderpool-Kimura, A.M., Foreman, J.R., Peterson, N.T., Senter, C.A., and Sissel, S.K., 2015, Chemical concentrations and instantaneous loads, Green River to the Lower Duwamish Waterway near Seattle, Washington, 2013–15: U.S. Geological Survey Data Series 973, 46 p., http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/ds973.

ISSN: 2327-638X (online)

# **Contents**

Abstract	1
Introduction	1
Methods	4
Continuous Real-Time Monitoring	4
Field Sampling and Processing	5
Analytical Methods	10
Quality Assurance and Quality Control	11
Data Reporting	12
Dioxins/Furans	13
Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons	13
Polychlorinated Biphenyls	14
Hydrology and Field Parameter Data	14
Chemical Concentrations	17
Unfiltered-Water Chemical Concentrations	17
Filtered-Water Chemical Concentrations	20
Suspended-Sediment Chemical Concentrations	20
Bed-Sediment Chemical Concentrations	25
Quality-Control Chemical Concentrations	29
Comparison of Suspended Sediment and Bed Sediment	30
Instantaneous-Load Estimates	34
Summary	41
Acknowledgments	41
References Cited	41
Appendix A. Analytical Laboratory Qualifier Descriptions, Result Amendments, and Complete Analytical Chemistry Results	45

# Figures

1.	Map showing location of U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) sampling station relative to the Lower Duwamish Waterway, Seattle, Washington	2
2.	Photograph showing U.S. Geological Survey field personnel measuring streamflow at the Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington (12113390), at river kilometer 16.7	4
3.	Photographs showing real-time streamgaging station, turbidity sensor, acoustic Doppler velocity meters, and installation by U.S. Geological Survey divers at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila (12113390), Washington	5
4.	Photographs showing US D-96 sampler for water chemistry and suspended-sediment physical parameters, volatile organic compound sampler, continuous-flow centrifuges for suspended-sediment chemistry, and Teflon <sup>™</sup> spatula from an inflatable kayak used for bed-sediment sampling at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington	9
5.	Graph showing sampling periods for water, suspended sediment, and bed sediment overlayed on the hydrograph of streamflow and turbidity at the Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, November 2013–March 2015	15
6.	Graph showing relation between precipitation and suspended-sediment concentration during sampling periods, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	16
7.	Graph showing relation between arsenic concentrations in paired unfiltered-water and filtered-water samples and suspended-sediment concentration during each sampling period, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	20
8.	Graphs showing particle-size distribution of bed-sediment samples, sieved to less than 2 millimeters and suspended-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	33

# **Tables**

1.	Field tasks, parameters collected, collection methods, references, and laboratories completing each task, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	6
2.	Analytical parameter groups, methods, and analyzing laboratories for samples collected at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	.11
3.	Summary statistics of general hydrology, water quality, and field conditions during bridge-based sampling at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	.15
4.	Summary statistics of detected compounds in unfiltered-water samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	.18
5.	Summary statistics of detected compounds in filtered-water samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	.21

# **Tables**

6.	Summary statistics of detected compounds in suspended-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	22
7.	Summary statistics of detected compounds in bed-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	26
8.	Comparison of select parameters in suspended sediment, bed sediment less than 62.5 µm, and bed sediment less than two mm, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	31
9.	Comparison of instantaneous unfiltered-water chemical loads between different sampling event types, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	35
10.	Comparison of instantaneous filtered-water loads between different sampling types, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	37
11.	Comparison of instantaneous suspended-sediment chemical loads between different sampling event types, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15	38

# **Conversion Factors**

Inch/Pound to International System of Units

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
inch (in.)	2.54	centimeter (cm)
foot (ft)	0.3048	meter (m)
mile (mi)	1.609	kilometer (km)
	Area	
acre	0.004047	square kilometer (km <sup>2</sup> )
	Volume	
gallon (gal)	3.785	liter (L)
	Flow rate	
cubic foot per second (ft <sup>3</sup> /s)	0.02831	cubic meter per second (m <sup>3</sup> /s)

# **Conversion Factors**

International System of Units to Inch/Pound

Multiply	Ву	To obtain
	Length	
centimeter (cm)	0.3937	inch (in.)
micrometer (µm)	0.003937	inch (in.)
millimeter (mm)	0.03937	inch (in.)
meter (m)	3.281	foot (ft)
kilometer (km)	0.6214	mile (mi)
	Area	
square kilometer (km <sup>2</sup> )	247.1	acre
	Volume	
milliliter (mL)	0.03382	ounce, fluid (fl. oz)
liter (L)	0.2642	gallon (gal)
	Flow rate	
milliliter per minute (mL/min)	0.0002642	gallon per minute (gpm)
liter per second (L/sec)	0.2642	gallon per minute (gpm)
	Mass	
gram (g)	0.03527	ounce, avoirdupois (oz)
kilogram (kg)	2.205	pound avoirdupois (lb)
metric ton	1,000	kilograms
Mass concentration unit		Equals
gram per kilogram (g/kg)		part per thousand
milligram per kilogram (mg/kg)		part per million (ppm)
microgram per kilogram (µg/kg)		part per billion (ppb, 109)
nanogram per kilogram (ng/kg)		part per trillion (ppt, 10 <sup>12</sup> )
Liquid concentration unit		Equals
gram per liter (g/L)		part per thousand
milligram per liter (mg/L)		part per million (ppm)
picogram per liter (pg/L)		part per quadrillion (ppqn, 1015)

Temperature in degrees Celsius (°C) may be converted to degrees Fahrenheit (°F) as

$$^{\circ}F = (1.8 \times ^{\circ}C) + 32.$$

# **Datums**

Gage height is referenced to the National Geodetic Vertical Datum of 1929 (NGVD 1929). Horizontal coordinate information is referenced to the North American Datum of 1983 (NAD 83).

# **Supplemental Information**

Specific conductance is given in microsiemens per centimeter at 25 degrees Celsius (µS/cm at 25 °C).

Turbidity is given in Formazin Nephelometric Units (FNU).

Concentrations of chemical constituents in water are given in milligrams per liter (mg/L), micrograms per liter ( $\mu$ g/L), or picograms per liter (pg/L).

# **Abbreviations**

ARI	Analytical Resources, Inc.
AXYS	AXYS Analytical Services, Ltd.
cPAHs	carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
CVO	U.S. Geological Survey Cascades Volcano Observatory Sediment Laboratory
DL	detection limit
DOC	dissolved organic carbon
Ecology	Washington State Department of Ecology
EDI	equal-discharge increment
FNU	Formazin Nephelometric Units
GC/MS	gas chromatography/mass spectrometry
HPAH	high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
HRMS	high-resolution mass spectrometry
LDW	Lower Duwamish Waterway
LPAH	low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PAHs	polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PCBs	polychlorinated biphenyls
PSD	particle-size distribution
RKM	river kilometer
RL	reporting limit
SRM	Sediment Reference Material
SSC	suspended-sediment concentration
STM	Sediment Transport Model
TEQ	toxic equivalent
ТОС	total organic carbon
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
USGS	U.S. Geological Survey
VOCs	volatile organic compounds

# Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to the Lower Duwamish Waterway near Seattle, Washington, 2013–15

By Kathleen E. Conn, Robert W. Black, Ann M. Vanderpool-Kimura, James R. Foreman, Norman T. Peterson, Craig A. Senter, and Stephen K. Sissel

### Abstract

In November 2013, U.S. Geological Survey streamgaging equipment was installed at a historical water-quality station on the Duwamish River, Washington, within the tidal influence at river kilometer 16.7 (U.S. Geological Survey site 12113390; Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, WA). Publicly available, real-time continuous data includes river streamflow, stream velocity, and turbidity. Between November 2013 and March 2015, the U.S. Geological Survey collected representative samples of water, suspended sediment, or bed sediment from the streamgaging station during 28 periods of differing flow conditions. Samples were analyzed by Washington-State-accredited laboratories for a large suite of compounds, including metals, dioxins/furans, semivolatile compounds including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, pesticides, butytins, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) Aroclors and the 209 PCB congeners, volatile organic compounds, hexavalent chromium, and total and dissolved organic carbon. Metals, PCB congeners, and dioxins/furans were frequently detected in unfiltered-water samples, and concentrations typically increased with increasing suspended-sediment concentrations. Chemical concentrations in suspendedsediment samples were variable between sampling periods. The highest concentrations of many chemicals in suspended sediment were measured during summer and early autumn storm periods.

Median chemical concentrations in suspended-sediment samples were greater than median chemical concentrations in fine bed sediment (less than 62.5  $\mu$ m) samples, which were greater than median chemical concentrations in paired bulk bed sediment (less than 2 mm) samples. Suspended-sediment concentration, sediment particle-size distribution, and general water-quality parameters were measured concurrent with the chemistry sampling. From this discrete data, combined with the continuous streamflow record, estimates of instantaneous sediment and chemical loads from the Green River to the Lower Duwamish Waterway were calculated. For most compounds, loads were higher during storms than during baseline conditions because of high streamflow and high chemical concentrations. The highest loads occurred during dam releases (periods when stored runoff from a prior storm is released from the Howard Hanson Dam into the upper Green River) because of the high river streamflow and high suspended-sediment concentration, even when chemical concentrations were lower than concentrations measured during storm events.

### Introduction

The Lower Duwamish Waterway (LDW) is the final 8-km-long reach of the Green/Duwamish River. The LDW enters Puget Sound's Elliott Bay in Seattle, Washington (fig. 1) and is the site of intense current and historical anthropogenic influence that has resulted in contaminated sediments. Land uses include numerous residential, industrial, and commercial activities such as manufacturing of airplane parts, boats, concrete, food processing, marinas, and roads. In 2001-02, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and the Washington State Department of Ecology (Ecology) required remedial investigations and feasibility studies on the 1.8 km<sup>2</sup> LDW under the Federal Superfund law and the Washington Model Toxics Control Act because of concerns about human health risks from exposure to contaminated sediments. The main contaminants of concern for human health include polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), dioxins/furans, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (cPAHs), and arsenic. Additionally, about 47 compounds (including individual metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons [PAHs], phthalates, and other volatile and semivolatile organic compounds) have numeric criteria in the Ecology Sediment Management Standards for protection of the benthic community. Five locations with highly contaminated sediment were identified for early cleanup, and those cleanup activities are complete or near completion (with a target date of 2015). The EPA's final cleanup plan for the remaining areas was released in November 2014 and includes using combinations of dredging, capping, natural sedimentation, and enhanced natural recovery.

#### 2 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15



2013 NAIP (National Agricultural Imagery Program) 1 meter imagery, U.S. Department of Agriculture's Farm Service Agency,

**Figure 1.** U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) sampling station relative to the Lower Duwamish Waterway, Seattle, Washington. Modified from Conn and Black (2014).

Washington State Plane South, NAD83

To support the implementation of a cleanup plan of contaminated sediments in the LDW, Ecology is leading source control activities and a watershed-scale pollutant loading assessment to identify sources of sediment recontamination adjacent to and upstream of the LDW. The three major sources of sediment to the LDW were identified as (1) resuspended bed sediment within the LDW, (2) lateral sources from land adjacent to the LDW, and (3) upstream sources that are transported by the Green River to the Duwamish River/LDW (the river changes names from the Green River to the Duwamish River at the Black River confluence at river kilometer [RKM] 18 [fig. 1]). The river originates in the Cascade Mountains and travels approximately 150 km through an increasingly developed watershed to Elliott Bay, Puget Sound, Washington. The Howard Hanson Dam located at RKM 103 regulates streamflow primarily for flood control. During winter, the reservoir behind Howard Hanson Dam collects excess runoff from the upper 570 square kilometers of the Green River basin. Between storms, the reservoir is kept nearly empty and the river flows through the dam in a gate-controlled tunnel. The gates are adjusted to hold back excess runoff in the reservoir during storms, and the stored runoff is released at relatively high rates that stay within the capacity of the downstream channel soon after a storm. The stored runoff is released as soon as safely possible to make storage space available for subsequent storm runoff, and this cycle is repeated as often as necessary during fall through spring. These periods of high rates of release are referred to in this report as dam releases.

The Sediment Transport Model (STM) developed for the LDW by AECOM Technology Corporation estimates that, on average, more than 185,000 metric tons of sediment enters the LDW each year. Greater than 99 percent of the sediment originates at upstream sources, whereas approximately 0.5 percent originates from lateral sources, and 0.2 percent originates from bed sediment within the LDW (Lower Duwamish Waterway Group, 2008). Additionally, the STM estimates that about 90 percent of the total bed area in the LDW will receive 10 cm of new sediment within 10 years or less. Therefore, the sediment and contaminant transport and loading dynamics from the Green River to the LDW will determine, in large part, the sediment recovery potential of remediated areas in the LDW.

Limited field data are available regarding sediment and contaminant transport and loading dynamics from the Green River to the LDW. The STM estimated suspended- and bedsediment loading into the LDW from upstream sources using grain size information and a flow-rating curve for the Green River based on streamflow data from 1960–80 and 1996–98. That physical model was then coupled with contaminantconcentration data to create a Bed Composition Model (BCM). The streamflow data were from a U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) streamgaging station located in Auburn, Washington, more than 40 RKM upstream of the LDW. The Lower Duwamish Waterway Group (2008) acknowledged that flows at that station were approximately 10 percent less than actual flows into the LDW because of additional inputs between the station and the LDW. This resulted in estimated sediment loads that may have underestimated actual values by 20-25 percent (Lower Duwamish Waterway Group, 2008). The upstream contaminant data were extrapolated from five historical data sets from Ecology, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, and King County, Washington. Only one of those data sets, from Ecology (Gries and Sloan, 2009), measured contaminants in suspended sediment (the other studies measured surficial bed-sediment or unfiltered water). However, the sample size of the Gries and Sloan data set was relatively small (n=7), and none of the samples were collected during the rising limb of a hydrograph of high flow periods. A disproportionately large amount of chemical loading from upstream sources to the LDW may occur during the rising limb of storm periods, especially following a period of dry weather. The upstream data that were used in the BCM primarily originated from surficial bed-sediment data, and those values were estimates of actual contaminant concentrations because the suspended-sediment fraction was not fully represented. Additionally, suspendedsediment-associated chemical loadings are expected to be affected by numerous factors, including antecedent weather, precipitation, streamflow, seasonality, suspended-sediment concentration (SSC), sediment organic carbon content, particle-size distribution (PSD), and upstream activities including dam operations. The USGS, in cooperation with Ecology, is providing estimates of annual sediment loading and toxic chemical loading from suspended sediment from the Green River to the LDW based on concurrent, representative measurements of streamflow, SSC, and suspended-sediment chemistry collected over a range of conditions at a location close to the LDW upper boundary. These results will improve our understanding of the potential for recontamination of recently remediated sediment within the LDW.

The Duwamish/Green River basin is nearly flat, and its tidal influence extends year-round more than 19 km upstream of the river mouth. During low-flow conditions (for example, less than 500 ft<sup>3</sup>/s), tidal influences extend at least 27 km upstream. The upstream boundary of the LDW, determined by the Lower Duwamish Superfund Site (Lower Duwamish Waterway Group, 2012) to be at RKM 8, is an estuarine environment strongly influenced by the tidal cycle. The sole location of operation for this study was USGS streamgaging station Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington; site 12113390 (figs. 1 and 2). This sampling area has a private bridge that facilitates access to the river at about RKM 16.7, which is upstream of the estuarine environment but still within the tidally-influenced section of the basin. Sampling at this streamgage minimized the potential for collection of re-suspended sediment from the LDW and transported upstream during high tides. Historical water and

#### 4 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

bed-sediment chemistry data were collected at this station under the USGS National Water Quality Assessment Program between 1995 and 2004. Development along the river between the upper boundary of the LDW (RKM 8) and the sampling station (RKM 16.7) includes a golf course, a small commercial complex, and residential properties. The contaminant contributions to the river from this reach, which were not measured in this study, primarily consist of stormwater outfalls.



**Figure 2.** U.S. Geological Survey field personnel measuring streamflow at the Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington (12113390), at river kilometer 16.7. Photograph by Kathleen Conn, U.S. Geological Survey, January 11, 2014.

This report presents data from discrete sampling of water, suspended sediment, and bed sediment at USGS streamgage 12113390 on the Duwamish River upstream of the LDW between November 2013 and March 2015. Unfilteredwater, suspended-sediment, and bed-sediment samples were analyzed for PCB congeners and Aroclors, dioxins/furans, metals, PAHs and other semivolatile organic compounds, volatile organic compounds (VOCs), pesticides, butyltins, hexavalent chromium, total organic carbon (TOC), and PSD. Filtered-water samples were analyzed for dissolved organic carbon (DOC) and metals. Field measurements were made of temperature, pH, specific conductance, dissolved oxygen, turbidity, and barometric pressure. The chemical results coupled with the continuous record of river streamflow and turbidity from the co-located USGS streamgaging station and measurements of SSC provide estimates of instantaneous sediment and chemical loads associated with upstream sources in the Green River to the LDW.

### **Methods**

### **Continuous Real-Time Monitoring**

In November 2013, USGS streamgaging equipment was installed at a historical water-quality station (USGS site 12113390; Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington) on the Duwamish River, Washington, within the tidal influence at river kilometer 16.7 (fig. 3A). Instrumentation at the station includes an in-river DTS-12 turbidity sensor (Forest Technology Systems, LTD, fig. 3B), a wire-weight gage and pressure transducer for stage measurement, and two submerged acoustic Doppler velocity meters (a Sontek SL 1500 and a SonTek Argonaut SW [fig. 3C], installed side-by-side by USGS divers [fig. 3D]). Using methods described by Levesque and Oberg (2012), data from acoustic Doppler velocity meters are indexed to derive a mean velocity for a designated standard-area cross section that is then used in conjunction with the stage-derived area (for the same cross section) to compute 15-minute forward or reverse streamflow information, in cubic feet per second, past the tidally-influenced station. Positive streamflow values indicate flow to the northwest toward the LDW, whereas negative streamflow values indicate upstream flow to the southeast (fig. 1). The provisional real-time data, including streamflow, stream velocity, gage height, turbidity, and water temperature



**Figure 3.** (*A*) real-time streamgaging station, (*B*) turbidity sensor, (*C*) acoustic Doppler velocity meters, and (*D*) installation by U.S. Geological Survey divers at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila (12113390), Washington. Photographs by Kathleen Conn, U.S. Geological Survey, on (*A*) November 22, 2013, (*B*) November 7, 2013, and (*C*–*D*) November 22, 2013.

were publicly available for the duration of the USGS-Ecology agreement (http://waterdata.usgs.gov/nwis/inventory/?site\_no=12113390&agency\_cd=USGS&amp?). The records were compiled, reviewed, and approved by the USGS in a timely manner consistent with USGS protocols (Levesque and Oberg, 2012).

### **Field Sampling and Processing**

Between November 2013 and March 2015, 24 bridgebased sampling efforts were completed by the USGS over a range of flow and sediment conditions. Additionally, four sets of bed-sediment samples were collected by boat or from the bank during separate low-flow conditions. Real-time turbidity and streamflow conditions from the co-located USGS streamgaging station were used to initiate sampling periods. During each bridge-based sampling period, as many as five concurrent tasks included measurement of instantaneous streamflow, general water quality, water chemistry, suspended-sediment physical parameters, and suspended-sediment chemistry. Fewer than five tasks occurred on days when personnel or equipment were limited (for example, a hydrographer or equipment was unavailable for an instantaneous streamflow measurement) or when the river conditions did not justify the field effort required for suspended-sediment chemistry sampling (for example, a predicted storm did not occur). A sixth task, bed-sediment chemistry, occurred during the four bed-sediment sampling periods. A summary of these tasks is contained in table 1. Table 1. Field tasks, parameters collected, collection methods, references, and laboratories completing each task, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013-15.

Geological Survey Cascades Volcano Observatory Sediment Laboratory, Vancouver, Washington; FNU, Formazin Nephelometric Units; PAH, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon; PCB, polychlorinated biphenyl; 11SGS WAWSC. U.S. Geological Survey Washington Water Science Center. Tacoma. Washington: cm. centimeter: °C. degrees Celsius: fi<sup>3</sup>/s. cubic foot per second: L. liter: m. meter. mg/L. milligram per liter: [Task No.: Corresponds to the task Nos. in the text. Abbreviations: ARI, Analytical Resources, Inc., Tukwila, Washington; AXYS, AXYS, ANAS Analytical, LTD, Sidney, British Columbia, Canada; CVO, U.S.

mm Hg, mill	limeters of mercury; µg/L, microgra	m per liter; μm, micrometer; μS/cm,	microsiemens per centimeter at 25	°C; mm, millimeter; –, none]		Û Û Û
Task No.	Field tasks	Parameter collected	<b>Collection method</b>	Published collection method	Analyzing Iaboratory	Notes
1	Instantaneous streamflow	River streamflow $(ft^{3/s})$	Acoustic Doppler current profiler (ADCP)	Mueller and others (2009)	USGS WAWSC	I
0	General water quality (field parameters)	Water temperature (°C), pH, dissolved oxygen (mg/L), specific conductance (µS/cm), turbidity (FNU), barometric pressure (mm Hg)	YSI Inc. multiparameter sonde deployed with VOC sampler (see Task 3b) at 60 percent of depth in the river thalweg	Wilde (variously dated)	USGS WAWSC	1
3a Э	Water chemistry	High-resolution dioxins/ furans and 209 PCB congeners. Also metals, PAHs and other semivolatile compounds, pesticides, butyltins, PCB Aroclors, hexavalent chromium, total organic carbon. See appendix A for analyte list.	Depth- and width-integrated sample using Teflon <sup>TM</sup> samplers. Sample transferred to Teflon churn in on-site mobile laboratory for complete homogenization prior to sample processing.	Wilde and others (2004); Davis (2005); U.S. Geological Survey (2006)	AXYS (high- resolution parameters) and ARI	1
3b	Water chemistry (volatile organic compounds)	Volatile organic compounds (µg/L). See appendix A for analyte list.	USGS hand-held sampler designed to minimize chemical loss. Sample collected at 60 percent of depth in thalweg.	Shelton (1997)	ARI	1
4	Suspended-sediment physical parameters	Characterization of abundance and size distribution of suspended sediment	Depth- and width-integrated sample. A stand alone sample collected using USGS suspended- sediment sampling protocol immediately after water-chemistry sample.	Edwards and Glysson (1999); Radtke (2005)	CVO	These samples did not receive any chemical analyses. Results were used with the suspended-sediment chemistry sampling results (see task 5) to estimate suspended sediment-bound

chemicals.

Table 1. Field tasks, parameters collected, collection methods, references, and laboratories completing each task, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013-15.-Continued [Task No.: Corresponds to the task Nos. in the text. Abbreviations: ARI, Analytical Resources, Inc., Tukwila, Washington; AXYS, AXYS, Analytical, LTD, Sidney, British Columbia, Canada; CVO, U.S. Geological Survey Cascades Volcano Observatory Sediment Laboratory, Vancouver, Washington; FNU, Formazin Nephelometric Units; PAH, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon; PCB, polychlorinated biphenyl; USGS WAWSC, U.S. Geological Survey Washington Water Science Center, Tacoma, Washington; cm, centimeter, °C, degrees Celsius; ft<sup>3</sup>/s, cubic foot per second; L, liter; m, meter; mg/L, milligram per liter; mm Hg, millimeters of mercury; µg/L, microgram per liter; µm, micrometer; µS/cm, microsiemens per centimeter at 25 °C; mm, millimeter; -, none]

ask No.	Field tasks	Parameter collected	<b>Collection method</b>	Published collection method	Analyzing laboratory	Notes
Ś	Suspended-sediment chemistry	High-resolution dioxins/ furans and 209 PCB congeners. Also metals, PAHs and other semitolatile compounds, pesticides, butyltins, PCB Aroclors, hexavalent chromium, total organic carbon. See appendix A for analyte list.	Concurrent with water chemistry sampling, 700–10,000 L of sediment-laden water pumped from the thalweg at 80 percent of depth through Teffon tube into Teffon lined buckets. Suspended sediment collected by flow-through centrifuge for chemical analysis.	Sample collection method: Conn and Black (2013). Sediment handling methods: Shelton and Capel (1994)	AXYS (high- resolution parameters) and ARI	An additional 3 L of water was pumped to assess particle- size distribution and suspended-sediment concentration. This additional sample was not be analyzed for chemistry, but was compared to the results from task 4.
Q	Bed-sediment chemistry	High-resolution dioxins/ furans and 209 PCB congeners. Also metals, PAHs and other semivolatile compounds, pesticides, butyltins, PCB Aroclors, hexavalent chromium, total organic carbon, grain size. See appendix A for analyte list.	Top 10 cm of sediment collected from up to 10 depositional areas containing fine-grained particles located 1,000 m downstream of water chemistry sampling. Sediment samples collected and composited with Teflon and glass sampling equipment. All samples sieved to less than 2 mm. Metals samples sieved with nylon sieve. Organic samples sieved with stainless steel sieve.	Radike (2005); Shelton and Capel (1994); Ecology (2008)	AXYS (high- resolution parameters) and ARI	Samples were also sieved to less than 62.5 µm and both size fractions were submitted for chemistry analysis.

#### 8 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

**Task 1** (instantaneous streamflow): River streamflow was measured using an acoustic Doppler current profiler following standard USGS protocols described by Mueller and others (2009).

**Task 2** (general water quality): Water-quality field parameters (water temperature, pH, dissolved oxygen, specific conductance, turbidity, and barometric pressure) were measured using a multiparameter sonde (Wilde, variously dated). Previous water-quality measurements (Conn and Black, 2014) indicated a well-mixed cross section; therefore, during all sampling periods, the sonde was co-located with the VOC sampler (see task 3) in the thalweg at 60 percent of depth (typically 1.5–2.5 m above the bed).

Task 3a (water chemistry): Based on total streamflow measurements, the river cross-section was divided into five equal-discharge increments (EDIs) for water-chemistry analysis and suspended-sediment physical parameter analysis (see task 4) using standard width- and depth-integrated USGS protocols (U.S. Geological Survey, 2006). For this sampling technique, a flow-weighted, depth-integrated sample is collected that is representative of the entire river cross-section at that sampling site. Briefly, a sampler was lowered at a consistent transit rate from the surface to the bottom and back to the surface of the water column at each of the five stations. The process was repeated until necessary sample volume was obtained. Water samples were collected from each crosssection station in 3-L Teflon<sup>™</sup> bags using a US D-96 sampler with Teflon nozzle and nozzle holder (fig. 4A; Davis, 2005). The water samples were composited in a 14-L Teflon churn and immediately processed in an on-site mobile laboratory. In the mobile laboratory, the composited water sample was churned according to USGS protocols (Wilde and others, 2004) to ensure sample homogenization prior to bottle filling. Bottles were pre-acidified for total and dissolved metals, TOC, and DOC. Samples for dissolved metals and DOC were field-filtered through a pre-conditioned 0.45-micrometer (µm) capsule filter.

**Task 3b** (water chemistry): Volatile organic compounds were collected separately (table 1, task 3b) using a hand-held sampler designed and tested by USGS to avoid losses resulting from sample pouring, transferring, and churning (fig. 4B), as described by Shelton (1997). The VOC sampler, containing as many as four 40 mL glass vials, was lowered to 60 percent of depth at a single station in the centroid of flow. The vials were filled slowly with water from the bottom to avoid turbulence and head space that could result in analyte losses.

All bottled samples were stored on ice and transported within 6 hours to Analytical Resources, Inc. (ARI) in Tukwila, Washington, except for the samples for high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) analysis for dioxins/furans and the 209 PCB congeners, which were transported to the USGS Washington Water Science Center and stored at 4 °C until shipment to AXYS Analytical Services, Ltd. (AXYS) for analysis. The HRMS samples had a 1-year holding time limit, and samples were shipped in batches of 4–10 bottles or jars approximately every 3–4 months.

**Task 4** (suspended-sediment physical parameters): After completion of the water chemistry sampling, a second cross section of depth- and width-integrated sampling was completed to characterize the abundance and size distribution of suspended sediment using standard USGS protocols (Edwards and Glysson, 1999; Radke, 2005). Using the same EDI sampler as used in task 3 (fig. 4*A*), water was collected in multiple 3-L polyethylene bags. The volume of water collected depended on current sediment conditions and ranged between 5 and 15 L (one to three bags per station). The samples were transported to the USGS Cascades Volcano Observatory (CVO) in Vancouver, Washington, for analysis of SSC and PSD.

Task 5 (suspended-sediment chemistry): Concurrent with tasks 3 and 4, river water was pumped from a single point through Teflon tubing into 100-L Teflon-lined drums for suspended-sediment chemistry analysis (fig. 4C) using a programmable peristaltic pump (6712 sampler, Teledyne Isco). Pre-cleaned Teflon tubing was installed through permanent rigid housing from the bank for each sampling period, then removed and cleaned after each sampling period. The tubing intake was located about 0.5 m above the bed and 9 m from the left edge of water. The pump was operated either in a continuous pumping mode or a cycling mode. The continuous pumping mode (approximately 4 L/min) typically was used for short-duration sampling (hours) during high-sediment periods (for example, to capture the turbidity peak of a storm). The cycling mode (on for about 25 of every 90 minutes or 1.2 L/min) typically was used for long-duration sampling (days) during low-sediment periods (for example, to capture baseline conditions). Each of the 22 suspended-sediment samples represented a composite sample collected from a minimum of 4 hours to a maximum of 7 days, depending on the sampling conditions.

Water in the 100-L drum(s) was pumped at a flow rate of 600 mL/min through Teflon tubing into a continuous-flow centrifuge (CFC Express, Scientific Methods, Inc.) that captures sediment in a bowl and continuously discharges clarified water. Sediment-capture efficiencies of the centrifuge, which runs at a fixed rate of 10,000 revolutions per minute, are greater than 90 percent at an inflow rate of 600 mL/ min under sediment conditions typical of the Duwamish River (Conn and Black, 2013). Two centrifuges were used in parallel for a combined processing rate of 1.2 L/min. The tubing was floated near the water surface of the drum to allow sediment to settle to the bottom of the drum. The captured sediment in the centrifuge bowls was emptied into a sample jar every 24 hours or less and stored undisturbed at 4 °C. After the water was pumped from the drum(s), the settled sediment at the bottom of the drum was composited with the bowl sediment in the sample jar. The sample jar was



**Figure 4.** (*A*) US D-96 sampler for water chemistry and suspended-sediment physical parameters, (*B*) volatile organic compound sampler, (*C*) continuous-flow centrifuges for suspended-sediment chemistry, and (*D*) Teflon<sup>™</sup> spatula from an inflatable kayak used for bed-sediment sampling at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington. Photographs taken by Kathleen Conn on (*A*) January 11, 2014, (*B*) May 26, 2015, (*C*) April 15, 2014, and (*D*) September 17, 2014.

transferred on ice to the Washington Water Science Center laboratory in Tacoma, Washington, and stored quiescently at 4 °C. The overlying water in the sample jar was carefully removed by pipette and centrifuged on a floor centrifuge (IEC Model K, Needham Heights, Massachusetts) for about 30 minutes at a maximum speed of 5,200 revolutions per minute. The centrifuged sediment was added to the sample jar. The sample was homogenized, and a subsample was collected for HRMS analysis. The HRMS sample was frozen until shipment to AXYS. The remaining sample was delivered to ARI for analysis of non-HRMS analytes. The time from when the sample was collected to when it was frozen or delivered to ARI ranged between 3 and 7 days. During that time, the sample was held at 4 °C.

Task 6 (bed-sediment chemistry): A bed-sediment sample was collected during four low flow and low tide conditions when depositional areas were exposed along the river bank (fig. 4D). Samples were collected according to modified Ecology and USGS protocols (Shelton and Capel, 1994; Radke, 2005; Washington State Department of Ecology, 2008) for analysis of the same suite of chemical parameters as the suspended-sediment samples (see table 1) and PSD. Sites were accessed by kayak or on foot, and subsamples (0-10 cm depth) from as many as 10 locations marked by geographic information systems within 1,000 m downstream of the bridge were composited with a Teflon spatula into a single sample in a Teflon-lined container during each of the four sample collection periods. Locations were selected to focus on areas with a high deposition of fine material. The composited sample was wet-sieved with a Teflon spatula through a 2-mm diameter sieve prior to jar filling. Samples for metals analysis were processed through a plastic sieve, and samples for organic analyses were processed through a stainless steel sieve. The composited slurry was also wet-sieved with a Teflon spatula through a 62.5-µm diameter sieve and collected into separate jars for analysis to compare chemistry results from the bulk bed sediment (less than 2 mm) to results from the fine bed sediment (less than 62.5 µm). Overlying water from the wet-sieving procedure was decanted from the jars and discarded prior to chemical analysis. A summary of sampling dates and completed tasks is given in table A1.

#### **Analytical Methods**

Samples of water (task 3), suspended sediment (task 5), and bed sediment (task 6) were analyzed for a suite of chemical and physical parameters using EPA- or USGSapproved methods (table 2). A single liquid/liquid extraction was done for the dioxins/furans and the 209 PCB congeners. Dioxins/furans were analyzed by gas chromatography/HRMS according to EPA SW-846 (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015) Method 1613B. The 209 PCB congeners were analyzed by gas chromatography/HRMS according to SW-846 Method 1668C. Samples for trace elements underwent an acid digestion followed by inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry according to SW-846 Method 6020 (similar to EPA Method 200.8). Low-level mercury was analyzed by cold-vapor atomic absorption spectrometry according to

SW-846 Method 7470A (for water samples) and 7471A (for sediment samples). Volatile organic compounds were analyzed by purge and trap followed by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (GC/MS) according to SW-846 Method 8260C. Semivolatile compounds were analyzed by continuous liquid/liquid extraction followed by GC/MS according to SW-846 Method 8270D. A second GS/MS analysis according to SW-846 8270D was conducted for low-level PAH determination using Selected-Ion Monitoring mode. PCB Aroclors were analyzed by separatory funnel liquid/liquid extraction and gas chromatography/electron capture detector according to SW-846 Method 8082A. Pesticides were analyzed by separatory funnel liquid/liquid extraction and gas chromatography/electron capture detector by SW-846 Method 8081B. Butyltins were analyzed by separatory funnel liquid/liquid extraction GC/MS according to SW-846 Method 8270D. Samples for hexavalent chromium underwent a diphenylcarbazide reaction for colorimetric analysis according to SW-846 Method 7196A. Total and dissolved organic carbon was determined by high-temperature combustion according to SW-846 Method 5310B (for water samples) and as described in Puget Sound Estuary Program (1986) (for sediment samples). Percentage of solids was determined by each analyzing laboratory for reporting concentrations in sediment samples on a dry weight basis.

Depth- and width-integrated samples of water (task 4) were analyzed for SSC by the USGS CVO sediment laboratory by weighing oven-dried solids (Guy, 1969). When there was sufficient suspended sediment in the water sample, a full PSD analysis also was done by CVO by washed sieving of particles greater than 62.5 µm or by settling velocity for particles less than 62.5 µm (Guy, 1969). The PSD of bedsediment samples was determined by ARI using similar washed sieving and settling velocity methods (Puget Sound Estuary Program, 1986). Parameter group, method, and analyzing laboratory are listed in table 2. A complete list of analytes for each media is contained in appendix A. During low-turbidity sampling periods, even with consecutive days of water collection, there was insufficient suspended-sediment concentrated from the centrifuges to analyze all parameters. In these cases, parameters were analyzed in this priority order: (1) dioxins/furans and PCB congeners; (2) metals, including mercury; (3) low-level PAHs; (4) TOC; (5) semivolatile compounds; (6) pesticides; (7) butyltins; (8) hexavalent chromium; (9) PCB Aroclors; and (10) VOCs.

# Table 2. Analytical parameter groups, methods, and analyzing laboratories for samples collected at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

[Unless an alternate reference is given, method numbers refer to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's SW-846 (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015). **Abbreviations:** ARI, Analytical Resources, Inc., Tukwila, Washington; ASTM, American Society for Testing and Materials; AXYS, AXYS Analytical, Ltd., Sidney, British Columbia, Canada; CVO, U.S. Geological Survey Cascades Volcano Observatory Sediment Laboratory; SIM, selected ion monitoring; SM, standard methods; µm, micrometer; mm, millimeter]

Analytical parameter	Analysis method	Analysis method description	Analyzing laboratory	
Total organic carbon, dissolved organic carbon	5310B—water; Puget Sound Estuary Program (1986)—sediment	High-temperature combustion	ARI	
Hexavalent chromium	7196A	Colorimetric	ARI	
Trace elements	6020	Inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry	ARI	
Low-level mercury	7470A—water; 7471A—sediment	Cold-vapor atomic absorption spectrometry	ARI	
Low-level polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons	8270D SIM	Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry	ARI	
Semivolatile compounds	8270D	Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry	ARI	
Butyltins	8270D	Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry	ARI	
Pesticides	8081B	Gas chromatography/electron capture detector	ARI	
Volatile organic compounds	8260C	Gas chromatography/mass spectrometry	ARI	
Dioxins/furans	1613B	High-resolution gas chromatography mass spectrometry	AXYS	
209 polychlorinated biphenyl congeners	1668C	High-resolution gas chromatography mass spectrometry	AXYS	
Polychlorinated biphenyl Aroclors	8082A	Gas chromatography/electron capture detector	ARI	
Suspended-sediment concentration	ASTM D3977-97(2013)e1 and Guy (1969)	Weight of oven-dried solids	CVO	
Particle-size distribution (suspended sediment)	Guy (1969)	Washed sieve (less than 2 mm), settling velocity (less than 62.5 $\mu$ m)	CVO	
Particle-size distribution (bed sediment)	Puget Sound Estuary Program (1986)	Washed sieve (less than 2 mm), settling velocity (less than $62.5 \ \mu$ m)	ARI	

### **Quality Assurance and Quality Control**

Standard USGS quality-assurance procedures for surface-water measurements and water-quality sampling and analysis were followed (Wagner and others, 2007; U.S. Geological Survey, 2006; Wilde, 2004; Wilde and others, 2004; Wilde, 2005; Wilde and others, 2014). These procedures included proper equipment selection, cleaning procedures, personnel training, and sampling protocols for low-level organic compounds, VOCs, and metals. Sampling equipment for chemical analyses was made of Teflon that had been pre-cleaned with phosphate-free soap, rinsed three times with tap water, soaked in 5-percent hydrochloric acid, rinsed with deionized water, rinsed with high-purity methanol, and airdried. Field sampling techniques included various measures to avoid sample contamination, including the two-person "clean hands, dirty hands" technique and processing of water samples in a clean mobile laboratory. Hydrologists and hydrologic technicians on this project were trained at the USGS National Training Center in the collection of water-quality samples, including samples for trace organic and low-level mercury analyses.

#### 12 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

A trip blank for VOCs was included in each of the sampling trips for unfiltered water, in which a sample of deionized water filled in a VOC vial at the analyzing laboratory was transported in the cooler to and from the site during field sampling. Other quality-control samples for chemistry analysis, listed by date in table A1, included:

- Five pairs of blank samples of water, with each pair consisting of a trip blank and a field equipment blank sample of water for each parameter. The trip blank was a sample of laboratory blank water filled directly into each sample bottle by the analyzing laboratory and was transported in the cooler to and from the site during field sampling. The unopened sample bottles were labeled in the mobile laboratory then returned to the cooler. Trip blank samples requiring filtration were laboratory-filtered prior to analysis. Each laboratory provided blank water for the equipment blank, which was transported in the mobile laboratory to the field site where it was poured through the pre-cleaned Teflon nozzle, 3-L bag and churn, churned, and then filled into sample bottles in the mobile laboratory. Equipment blank samples requiring filtration were field-filtered in the same manner as river water processing. The five blank pairs were collected throughout the study (approximately every 3 months) to identify any contamination associated with field sampling and processing protocols.
- Two concurrent replicates of water, in which a second sample was collected at each EDI station immediately following the first sample, were composited in a second pre-cleaned Teflon churn.
- One centrifuge equipment blank sample of suspended sediment, in which a commercial fine silica sand (in which approximately 50 percent of particles were less than 100  $\mu$ m and 90 percent were less than 300  $\mu$ m) was burned in a muffle furnace at 450 °C for 6 hours, cooled, then mixed with organic-free blank water to form a slurry. The slurry was pumped and processed through all of the field and laboratory equipment for suspended-sediment sampling (that is, Teflon tubing, Teledyne Isco pump, Teflon bag, Teflon tubing, centrifuge bowl, and glass jar).
- One centrifuge source sediment sample, in which the fine silica sand that had been burned in a muffle furnace at 450 °C for 6 hours was directly placed into a sample jar for analysis.
- Two field splits of bed sediment, in which the less than 2 mm-sieved, homogenized material was split into two sample jars for analysis.
- Two centrifuged splits of bed sediment, in which splits of less than 2-mm bed sediment were mixed to a slurry with deionized water and processed through the suspended-sediment sampling equipment (pumps, tubing, and centrifuge) to assess compound recovery.

One split (processed on March 23, 2015) was compared to the corresponding 2-mm-sieved bed-sediment sample. The other split (processed on February 23, 2015) was additionally sieved through a 62.5-µm sieve after centrifuging and the results were compared to the corresponding 62.5-µm-sieved bed-sediment sample.

• One Puget Sound Sediment Reference Material (SRM), which is a regionally-relevant sediment standard reference material for dioxins/furans, PCB congeners, and PCB Aroclors, was analyzed for dioxins/furans, PCB congeners, PCB Aroclors and TOC. Laboratory results were compared to the average concentration of the standard as determined during previous round robin laboratory testing.

Both analytical laboratories processed laboratory blank, spike, and replicate analyses according to their qualityassurance plan, that is, with every batch of approximately 20 samples (Analytical Resources, Inc., 2014; AXYS Analytical, LTD, 2015). Matrix spike, matrix spike duplicates, and laboratory replicate analyses were processed with one to four water samples and two bed-sediment samples from this project for each method. If values exceeded control limits for analytes detected in associated environmental samples then corrective actions were taken such as re-runs and re-extractions. Additional details regarding the field and laboratory methods are available in Conn and Black (2013).

### **Data Reporting**

Field notes and field parameters measured during each sampling period were reviewed by USGS project managers. An EPA Level 4 data package was produced by the two analytical laboratories for every sample analyzed in this project. Each package included detailed information regarding package completeness, instrument calibration and performance, and instrument chromatograms for confirmation of detections and non-detections. A narrative was provided with each package, documenting any deviations from protocol or problems encountered during analysis. All data packages were reviewed by the project manager at a level comparable to an EPA Level 2 validation, including assessment of precision (replicate analyses), accuracy (compound recovery), and blank contamination. The Level 2 validation identified some minor discrepancies, such as missed flags, which were reported to the laboratory and corrected in a revised data package. A representative subsample (about 10 percent) of data packages were reviewed by the Quality Assurance Coordinator at the Ecology Manchester Environmental Laboratory in Port Orchard, Washington at a level comparable to an EPA Level 4 validation. This included recalculation of results from instrument responses to confirm the correct identification and quantitation of analytes, tentatively-identified compounds, and non-detected compounds. A report summarizing the Level 4 validation results for each method was issued to the USGS

and Ecology project managers. Discrepancies identified by the Level 4 validation were resolved through coordination between Ecology, USGS, and the analytical laboratories.

Numerous, nearly synonymous terms are used by the laboratories for reporting analytical data based on criteria defined by the EPA or accreditation agencies. For simplicity, detection limit (DL) and reporting limit (RL) are the only two terms used in this report. The DL for non-HRMS analyses is defined as the lowest result that can be reliably distinguished from a blank based on historical method blank detections with a false positive rate of less than or equal to 1 percent. The RL for non-HRMS analyses is defined as the lowest concentration that can be reliably achieved within specific limits of precision and accuracy during routine operating conditions. The DL for compounds analyzed by HRMS (the dioxins/furans and PCB congeners) is defined as the concentration equivalent to three times the estimated chromatographic noise height, determined individually for each compound for every sample analysis run. The RL for HRMS compounds is determined by prorating the concentration of the lowest calibration limit for sample size and extract volume by using the following equation:

$$RL = [(lowest level calibration standard) \times (extract volume)]/sample size. (1)$$

Differences between various laboratory and agency protocols for qualifying analytical data to address measurement considerations and abnormalities are common. Adjustments to the laboratory-provided qualifiers from laboratories used in this study were made to be consistent with the Ecology Toxics Cleanup Program data reporting protocols (Washington State Department of Ecology, 2008) as outlined in the EPA Functional Guidelines (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011). Data that had been qualified by the laboratory or during the Level 2 or Level 4 review process with qualifiers other than U-, J-, N-, and R-containing qualifiers were amended following the protocols described in appendix A and summarized here. In section "Chemical Concentrations," summary tables of detected compounds are presented, which includes detections (unqualified) and estimated detections (J-qualified) and does not include non-detections (U- or UJ-qualified), detections that did not meet all criteria for identification of the target analyte (NJ-qualified, often referred to as the estimated maximum possible concentration), or unquantifiable results (R-qualified). The complete analytical results for all individual compounds with USGS-amended qualifiers are presented in appendix A and are stored in the publicly available Ecology Environmental Information Management database (Washington State Department of Ecology, 2015). The USGS-amended qualifier is contained in the "Result Data Qualifier" column and the original laboratory qualifier(s) is contained in the "Result Additional Comment" column. The complete results from quality control samples are presented in appendix A.

Both analytical laboratories reported detections with "J" qualifiers that were greater than the DL but less than the RL for all mass spectrometry-based methods (all parameters except hexavalent chromium, TOC, and DOC). When a compound was not detected greater than the DL, the DL value was reported with a "UJ" qualifier for HRMS compounds and the RL was reported with a "U" qualifier for non-HRMS compounds. The DL and RL varied over of the course of the project between compounds and for an individual compound between samples, owing to annual laboratory RL and DL updates, sample dilutions, and sample-specific calculations. The DL and RL values are stored with the sample results in the publicly available Ecology Environmental Information Management database (State of Washington Department of Ecology, 2015).

The result from the most sensitive method is reported when a parameter was analyzed by more than one method, unless otherwise noted. The Aroclor results from both the HRMS method and the non-HRMS method are presented for comparison. Data with "J" qualifiers are included in the summed or calculated values. Toxic Equivalent (TEQ) concentrations are reported for dioxins/furans and cPAHs. If a compound was not detected greater than the DL, a value of one-half of the DL was used in the TEQ calculations. The TEQ values are presented to facilitate comparison to other Duwamish data sets; however, the use of a substituted value for censored data can result in large differences in the resulting estimates of summary statistics (Helsel and Hirsch, 2002). The summed and calculated values are presented in the data results.

#### **Dioxins/Furans**

- Total dioxins/furans, as a sum of 17 congener concentrations.
- Total dioxins/furans, as a TEQ according to the World Health Organization 2005 guidelines (Van den Berg and others, 2006). If a compound was not detected at greater than the detection level, a value of one-half the DL was used in the calculations.

#### Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons

- Total cPAHs as a summed concentration of benzo(*a*)anthracene, chrysene, benzo(*a*)pyrene, indeno(1,2,3-*c*,*d*)pyrene, dibenz(*a*,*h*)anthracene, and total benzofluoranthenes (sum of b-, j-, and k- isomers).
- Total cPAHs as a TEQ according to the potency equivalency factors adopted by the California Environmental Protection Agency (2005). If a compound was not detected at greater than the DL, a value of onehalf the DL was used in the calculations.

#### 14 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

- Total high molecular-weight PAHs (HPAH) as a summed concentration of fluoranthene, pyrene, benz[*a*]anthracene, chrysene, total benzofluoranthenes (sum of b-, j-, and k- isomers), benzo[*a*]pyrene, indeno[1,2,3-*c*,*d*]pyrene, dibenzo[*a*,*h*]anthracene, and benzo[*g*,*h*,*i*]perylene.
- Total low molecular-weight PAHs (LPAH) as a summed concentration of naphthalene, acenaphthylene, acenaphthene, fluorene, phenanthrene, and anthracene.

#### **Polychlorinated Biphenyls**

- Total PCBs, as a sum of the 209 congeners.
- Summed homologues (for example, total monochloro biphenyls, total dichloro biphenyls).
- Aroclors, as a combination of three Aroclors: 1242, 1254, and 1260. The Aroclor concentrations were calculated according to the following equations, in which concentrations of specific congeners (determined from the HRMS method EPA 1668C) are summed and multiplied by a quantification factor:
  - Aroclor  $1242 = (8, 18/30, 20/28, 31) \times 3.0$
  - Aroclor  $1254 = (83/99, 86/87/97/109/119/125) \times 8.0$
  - Aroclor  $1260 = (170, 180/193, 183/185) \times 5.0$ . The empirical factors have been developed by the high-resolution laboratory through analysis of Aroclor standards and comparison to published data (Schulz and others, 1989; Rushneck and others, 2004).
- A second laboratory presented PCB detections as Aroclors using a low-resolution mass spectrometry method (EPA Method SW8082A) that compares environmental results to Aroclor calibration standards. Results from the lowresolution method are presented as Aroclors 1242, 1254, and 1260. Although this method is less sensitive than the high-resolution congener method, the detections are presented for inter-laboratory Aroclor comparison.

Other than the TEQ calculations (in which a value of one-half the DL was used for undetected compounds), only detected concentrations (including J-qualified detections) were included in summed values. If all compounds in a summed calculation were undetected, the total value is represented by the single highest DL (with a UJ qualifier) or RL (with a U qualifier). All sediment concentrations were reported by the laboratories as a dry weight concentration. Organic carbonnormalized concentrations were calculated by dividing the dry weight concentration by the fraction of TOC in the sample. Instantaneous chemical loads were estimated using a method based on water chemical concentrations and a method based on suspended-sediment chemical concentrations. Instantaneous unfiltered-water chemical loads in grams per hour were calculated using the following equation:

#### Water chemical load $(g/hr) = C_w (g/L) \times Q (L/hr)$ (2)

where

- $C_w$  is chemical concentration in water, in grams per liter;
- *Q* is the median 15-minute river streamflow during sample collection, in liters per hour;

Instantaneous suspended-sediment chemical loads (g/hr) were calculated using the following equation:

Sediment chemical load 
$$(g/hr) = C_s (g/kg \times kg/10^6 \text{ mg})$$
 (3)  
  $\times Q (L/hr) \times \text{SSC} (mg/L)$ 

where

$C_{s}$	is chemical concentration in suspended
5	sediment, in grams per kilogram;
Q	is the median 15-minute river streamflow
	during sample collection, in liters per hour;
	anu
SSC	is suspended-sediment concentration, in
	milligrams per liter.

Non-detects were assigned the DL concentration for instantaneous loading calculations and the resulting value was reported with a "<" symbol.

### Hydrology and Field Parameter Data

The 24 bridge-based sampling periods for water and suspended sediment during 2013–15 occurred over a range of precipitation and streamflow conditions (table 3, see also table A2). The sampling periods are overlayed on the hydrograph from the co-located streamgage (fig. 5). Three sets of sampling periods are shown: water (EDI measurements), suspended sediment (pumping periods for suspended-sediment chemistry by centrifugation), and bed sediment. The duration of the pumping period for suspended-sediment chemistry depended on a number of variables including the weather forecast, river streamflow and turbidity conditions, operations at the Howard Hanson Dam (located upstream at RKM 103), and personnel availability and safety. The duration ranged between 4 hours and 7 days, resulting in 740 to 10,550 L of water processed during each sampling period (table A2).

 Table 3.
 Summary statistics of general hydrology, water quality, and field conditions during bridge-based sampling at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

[**Parameter name:** 72-hour antecedent precipitation is the sum of the daily totals on the sampling date and two previous days from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration precipitation station at Seattle-Tacoma Airport (GHCND:USW00024233). 30-day antecedent precipitation is the sum of the daily totals from the previous 30 days from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration precipitation at Seattle-Tacoma Airport (GHCND:USW00024233). Instantaneous 30 days from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration precipitation at Seattle-Tacoma Airport (GHCND:USW00024233). Instantaneous streamflow was measured with an acoustic Doppler current profiler. Instantaneous turbidity was measured with a hand-held multi-parameter sonde. **Abbreviations:** in., inch; ft<sup>3</sup>/s, cubic foot per second; °C, degrees Celsius; µS/cm, microsiemens per centimeter at °C; mg/L, milligram per liter; mm/Hg, millimeters of mercury; FNU, Formazin Nephelometric Unit; L, liter]

		All water samples			Sampling periods		
Parameter name	Unit of measure	All	(n=24)	pies	Baseline (n=7)	Storm (n=11)	Dam release (n=6)
		Median	Minimum	Maximum	Median	Median	Median
72-hour antecedent precipitation	in.	0.77	0.00	2.61	0.14	1.41	0.75
30-day antecedent precipitation	in.	4.78	0.17	9.71	3.78	3.86	5.28
Instantaneous streamflow	ft <sup>3</sup> /s	2,140	496	7,180	1,190	1,960	6,960
Water temperature	°C	7.6	4.9	16.5	9.6	7.6	6.7
pH	unitless	6.91	6.78	7.26	6.98	6.90	6.86
Specific conductance	µS/cm	83	37	159	124	84	46
Dissolved oxygen	mg/L	11.2	8.3	12.2	10.7	11.3	11.7
Barometric pressure	mm/Hg	760.0	748.2	771.1	761.6	754.7	767.0
Instantaneous turbidity	FNU	17	3	170	3	14	67
Suspended-sediment concentration	mg/L	56	6	555	9	51	327
Fine suspended sediment (less than 62.5 µm)	percent	80	56	95	83	81	69
Pump duration (for sediment chemistry)	hour	23	4	147	93	17	5
Estimated pumped volume (for sediment chemistry)	L	1,990	740	10,600	6,720	1,600	1,050



**Figure 5.** Sampling periods for water, suspended sediment, and bed sediment overlayed on the hydrograph of streamflow and turbidity at the Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, November 2013–March 2015.

#### 16 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

The 24 bridge-based sampling periods were classified into three general categories-baseline conditions, storm periods, and dam releases (periods when stored runoff from a prior storm is released from Howard Hanson Dam into the upper Green River)-determined subjectively from a combination of factors including antedecedent precipitation, precipitation duration, intensity and location during sampling, Howard Hanson Dam operations, and site conditions such as streamflow and turbidity during sampling. Of the 24 bridgebased sampling periods, 11 were during storms, 6 were during dam releases, and 7 were during baseline conditions (table 3). Baseline sampling occurred during periods of low precipitation (72-hour antecedent precipitation less than 0.5 in.) except for winter baseline sampling which captured daily low-intensity precipitation characteristic of the Pacific Northwest. Storm sampling captured a range of precipitation conditions (72-hour antecedent precipitation ranged from 0.39 to 2.21 in.). Sampling periods characterized as dam releases had 72-hour antecedent precipitation less than 1 in. except for one period (March 6, 2014) in which there had been 2.61 in. of precipitation in the previous 72 hours (the highest precipitation sampled in the project) that resulted in a near-flood dam release. In this report, 72-hour antecedent precipitation is defined as the sum of the daily total for the sampling date (or the first day of sampling if it was a multiday collection period) and 2 previous days from the National

Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration precipitation station at Seattle-Tacoma Airport (GHCND:USW00024233), located approximately 6 km southwest of the station at 47.4444 N 122.3138 W. The 30-day antecedent precipitation, defined as the sum of the previous 30 daily-precipitation totals from the Seattle-Tacoma Airport precipitation station, ranged from 0.17 (July 23, 2014) to 9.71 in. (March 6, 2014) (table 3) and was greater than 3 in. for 18 of the 24 sampling periods (table A2). Sampling periods captured a range of conditions in this hydrologically complex river system, including the rising limb, peak, or falling limb on the turbidity hydrograph caused by local-scale or watershed-scale storms, dam releases from the Howard Hanson Dam, channel and bank storage release, and bi-directional flows resulting from tidal effects. River system complexity is illustrated by the lack of relation between 72-hour antecedent precipitation and SSC (fig. 6). In a river system affected primarily by overland flow, river SSC typically increases with increasing precipitation as sediment-laden runoff enters the river. The Green/Duwamish River system is affected by overland flow and other sources of sediment, such as releases of water and sediment from the Howard Hanson Dam. Four of the five highest SSC values (between 200 and 600 mg/L) were measured during dam releases when there was little precipitation on the day of sampling.



**Figure 6.** Relation between precipitation and suspended-sediment concentration during sampling periods, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15. Precipitation is the sum of the daily total for the sampling date and two previous days from the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration precipitation station at Seattle-Tacoma Airport (GHCND:USW00024233).

17

During the study period (November 26, 2013, through March 31, 2015), median turbidity, as determined in 15-minute increments from the continuous turbidity sensor, ranged from 1.2 to 240 Formazin Nephelometric Units (FNU), and was less than 10 FNU more than 75 percent of the time (fig. 5). Median streamflow, as determined in 15-minute increments from the index velocity rating curve at the co-located streamgage, ranged from -1,110 ft<sup>3</sup>/s during a summer high tide that resulted in up-river flow to 9,190 ft<sup>3</sup>/s during an early spring storm and dam release. The median 15-minute streamflow during the study period was  $1,640 \text{ ft}^3/\text{s}$ . Instantaneous water-quality parameters were measured during each sampling period (tables 3 and A2). Water temperature during sampling periods ranged from 4.9 (February 18, 2014) to 16.5 °C (September 24, 2014). Specific conductance during sampling periods ranged from 37 µS/cm at 25 °C (µS/ cm) during a large dam release on January 6, 2015 to 159 µS/cm on July 23, 2014 during a low-precipitation, low-flow summer period. Suspended-sediment concentration, measured using representative streamflow-weighted, depth integrated methods, ranged from 6 mg/L during a baseline period on February 26, 2015 to 555 mg/L during a large dam release on January 6, 2015. The percentage of fines (less than  $62.5 \mu m$ ) in the suspended sediment ranged from 56 percent during a large storm event on February 18, 2014 to 95 percent during a low-precipitation summer period on July 23, 2014 (table 3), with a median of 80 percent. There was sufficient suspended sediment during 13 sampling periods to analyze a full PSD (see section, "Comparison of Suspended Sediment and Bed Sediment").

The four sets of bed-sediment samples (fig. 5) were collected when the gage height was less than or equal to 6.5 ft, the turbidity was less than 4.0 FNU, and the 72-hour antecedent precipitation was less than or equal to 0.51 in. (table A3).

### **Chemical Concentrations**

Analytical chemistry results are presented for unfilteredwater samples, filtered-water samples, suspended-sediment samples, bed-sediment samples, and quality-control samples.

#### **Unfiltered-Water Chemical Concentrations**

The compounds or compound groups detected in one or more unfiltered-water river samples were: TOC, metals, PAHs, dioxins/furans, and PCB congeners. Total organic carbon in all 19 river water samples ranged from 1.50 to 7.39 mg/L, with a median of 2.77 mg/L (table 4). The three samples in which TOC exceeded 6 mg/L were collected when there were only trace amounts of precipitation on the day of sampling but SSC was greater than 200 mg/L owing to a large release of water from the Howard Hanson Dam. Each of the 18 metals that were analyzed for were detected in at least one unfilteredwater sample during the study (tables 4 and A4). Nine metals were detected in greater than 75 percent of unfiltered-water samples: arsenic, barium, chromium, cobalt, copper, lead, manganese, nickel, and vanadium. Arsenic was detected in all 19 unfiltered-water samples ranging in concentration from 0.6 to 2.7 µg/L, with a median of 1.0 µg/L. Median concentrations of TOC and many metals were higher during dam releases than during storms or baseline conditions (table 4). Concentrations of metals in unfiltered-water samples increased with increasing SSC (see fig. 7 for arsenic as an example).

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons were detected infrequently and at low concentrations in unfiltered-water samples (tables 4 and A4). Most detections occurred during storms. LPAHs were detected in 5 of 19 samples, owing entirely to detections of phenanthrene ranging from 0.0052 J to 0.016  $\mu$ g/L. Concentrations of naphthalene in river water samples were U-qualified owing to detections in water field-blank samples (see section, "Quality-Control Chemical Concentrations"). HPAHs were detected in 5 of 19 samples at concentrations as much as 0.25  $\mu$ g/L. Carcinogenic PAHs (cPAHs) were detected in 4 of 19 samples at concentrations as much as 0.031 J  $\mu$ g TEQ/L. The four samples in which cPAHs were detected included a summer hail storm, a "first flush" autumn sample, and two February storms —one in 2014 and one in 2015.

Dioxins/furans were detected in 16 of 19 samples at concentrations as much as 1.30 J picograms TEQ per liter (pg TEQ/L) (tables 4 and A4). The regulated congener 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin was not detected at greater than the reporting level (table A4). PCB congeners were detected in all 19 unfiltered-water samples; the summed concentration of the 209 congeners ranged from 32.7 J to 6,790 pg/L, with a median concentration of 163 J pg/L (tables 4 and A4). The summed concentration of the 209 PCB congeners was greater than 500 pg/L in 3 of the 19 water samples during (1) an intense, multi-day winter storm, (2) a summer hail storm, and (3) a "first flush" autumn storm. The PCB congeners are reported as total PCBs, homologue totals, and Aroclors in table 4. The individual congener results are presented in table A4. In comparison, PCB Aroclors, determined by low-resolution mass spectrometry, were not detected in unfiltered water (table 4).

The common contaminant bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (2.9 J µg/L) and methylene chloride (0.61 J µg/L) were each detected once in unfiltered water. The methylene chloride concentration was similar to concentrations measured in trip-blank samples (see section, "Quality-Control Chemical Concentrations" for additional details). The compound groups that were analyzed for, but were not detected were: semivolatile organic compounds (other than bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate), pesticides, VOCs (other than methylene chloride), hexavalent chromium, and butyltins (table A4).

Table 4. Summary statistics of detected compounds in unfiltered-water samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

concentration is reported in "Result" column); U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is reported in "Result" column); UJ, not detected above detection limit is reported in "Result" [This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup>. column). Abbreviations: µg/L, microgram per liter; µg TEQ/L, microgram toxic equivalent per liter; mg/L, milligram per liter; pg/L, picogram toxic equivalent per liter; na, not 2, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); NJ, result did not meet all quantitation criteria (an estimated maximum possible Parameter name: cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. applicable]

4												Samplin	g perio	ds	
		Chemical		AI	water sai	nples (	n=19)				Baseline	Stor	E	Dam re	ease
	Unit of	Abstracts								_	(u=2)	Ű	6	i≓u)	_
Parameter name	measure	Service	Number of	Detections	Media	_	Minimu	ε	Maximum		Median	Med	an	Medi	an
		(CAS) No.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	D	Result	a	Result <i>Q</i>	Re	sult 0	Result	D	Result	D
				0	rganic carl	pon									
Total organic carbon	mg/L	na	19/19	na	2.77		1.50		7.39		.75	2.80		6.30	
					Metals										
Antimony	μg/L	7440-36-0	5/19	60	0.12	D	0.04	n	0.20		.05 U	0.13	n	0.12	n
Arsenic	μg/L	7440-38-2	19/19	0	1.0		0.6		2.7	_	7.0	1.0		1.9	
Barium	μg/L	7440-39-3	19/19	0	8.6		3.7		55.1		0.1	8.6		28.3	
Beryllium	μg/L	7440-41-7	9/19	89	0.2	D	0.07	D	0.2		).2 U	0.2	N	0.14	J
Cadmium	μg/L	7440-43-9	9/19	67	0.1	D	0.03	D	0.1		.1 U	0.1	N	0.07	J
Chromium	μg/L	7440-47-3	15/19	40	0.70		0.27	D	4.0		).25 J	0.70		3.2	
Cobalt	μg/L	7440-48-4	15/16	20	0.35		0.11	D	3.6		).14 J	0.35		1.7	
Copper	μg/L	7440-50-8	17/19	0	2.5		0.8	D	12.1		.8	2.5		6.4	
Lead	μg/L	7439-92-1	19/19	0	0.70		0.10		2.8		).10	0.70		1.6	
Manganese	μg/L	7439-96-5	16/16	0	98.7		43.9		262		2.7	93.4		139	
Mercury	μg/L	7439-97-6	6/19	67	0.02	D	0.006	D	0.019 J	_	).02 U	0.02	N	0.019	J
Molybdenum	μg/L	7439-98-7	8/16	38	0.16	ſ	0.02	D	0.40		U U.	0.25		0.13	D
Nickel	μg/L	7440-02-0	19/19	0	1.1		0.48		4.9		.50	1.1		4.5	
Selenium	μg/L	7782-49-2	3/19	67	0.5	D	0.5	Ŋ	0.14		.5 U	0.5	N	0.5	D
Silver	μg/L	7440-22-4	7/19	100	0.20	D	0.01	D	0.03 J	_	).2 U	0.2	N	0.2	D
Thallium	μg/L	7440-28-0	3/19	100	0.03	D	0.01	D	0.03 J		.01 U	0.02	N	0.05	D
Vanadium	μg/L	7440-62-2	19/19	0	2.8		0.80		19		.90	2.8		8.5	
Zinc	μg/L	7440-66-6	12/19	8	7.0		1.9	N	28	,	1.0 U	7.0		13	
				Polycyclic	aromatic h	ydroca	Irbons								
LPAH <sup>1</sup>	µg/L	na	5/19	80	0.01	Ŋ	0.008	n	0.016	_	.010 U	0.012	U	0.01	n
$HPAH^{2}$	μg/L	na	5/19	80	0.02	D	0.01	Ŋ	0.25		.02 U	0.026	ſ	0.02	Ŋ
cPAH <sup>3</sup>	µg/L	na	4/19	75	0.02	D	0.01	D	0.14		).02 U	0.02	D	0.02	D
cPAH <sup>3</sup>	µg TEQ/L	na	4/19	75	0.002	D	0.002	D	0.031 J	_	).002 U	0.002	Þ	0.002	D

G
_
Ц
Ē
Ъ
ې
à
5
င္ပ်ာ
5
3
Ľ
5
- D
÷≣
Ś
/a
$\leq$
a,
÷.
8
Ť
H
at
Ð
LS I
n
ů
f
0
G
at
Ľ
)e
÷
-
Ś
<u> </u>
al
3
E
-
SS
-≝
Ĕ
ar
S
e
at
≥
÷
ē
e
.≓
nf
in u
s in u
u ni sbr
unds in u
ounds in u
n pounds in u
ompounds in u
compounds in u
ed compounds in u
sted compounds in u
ected compounds in u
etected compounds in u
detected compounds in u
of detected compounds in u
s of detected compounds in u
ics of detected compounds in u
stics of detected compounds in u
atistics of detected compounds in u
statistics of detected compounds in u
y statistics of detected compounds in u
ary statistics of detected compounds in u
mary statistics of detected compounds in u
mmary statistics of detected compounds in u
ummary statistics of detected compounds in u
Summary statistics of detected compounds in u
Summary statistics of detected compounds in u
4. Summary statistics of detected compounds in u
le 4. Summary statistics of detected compounds in u
Ible 4. Summary statistics of detected compounds in u

concentration is reported in "Result" column); U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is reported in "Result" column); UJ, not detected above detection limit (detection limit is reported in "Result" [This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup>. column). Abbreviations: µg/L, microgram per liter, µg TEQ/L, microgram toxic equivalent per liter, mg/L, milligram per liter; pg/L, picogram per liter; pg TEQ/L, picogram toxic equivalent per liter; na, not Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); NJ, result did not meet all quantitation criteria (an estimated maximum possible Parameter name: cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. applicable]

													Sampling	perio	ds	
	Unit of	Chemical Abstracts		A	ll water sa	mples	(n=19)				Baselii (n=5)	Je	Storr (n=9	E 🕤	Dam rel (n=5	ease )
Parameter name	measure	Service	Number of	Detections	Media	Ξ	Minim	E	Maxim	m	Media	=	Media	an	Medi	uu
		(CAS) NO.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	D	Result	D	Result	а	Result	р	Result	D	Result	D
					Dioxins/fur	ans										
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	pg/L	na	16/19	63	26.9	ſ	8.90	IJ	186		1.06	J	37.2	J	31.0	ſ
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	pg TEQ/L	na	16/19	81	0.956	J	0.843	IJ	1.30	ſ	0.892	J	1.01	J	0.956	J
			Polychlorinat	ed biphenyls	(by high-re	solutio	on mass sp	ectro	metry)							
Total polychlorinated biphenyls <sup>5</sup>	pg/L	1336-36-3	19/19	62	163	ſ	32.7	ſ	6,790		53.8	ſ	376		233	ſ
Total monochloro biphenyls	pg/L	27323-18-8	6/17	100	7.48	Ŋ	1.11	Ŋ	51.0	ſ	2.12	J	8.63	ſŊ	2.97	IJ
Total dichloro biphenyls	pg/L	25512-42-9	10/19	50	4.31	J	6.04	Ŋ	16.9	ſ	7.20	J	63.9	ſŊ	9.70	
Total trichloro biphenyls	pg/L	25323-68-6	19/19	95	11.4	J	3.00	J	159	ſ	5.63	J	12.6	J	11.1	ſ
Total tetrachloro biphenyls	pg/L	26914-33-0	19/19	95	11.9	ſ	2.10	J	835		9.84	J	13.1	J	17.1	J
Total pentachloro biphenyls	pg/L	25429-29-2	19/19	68	39.1	ſ	5.72	ſ	2,630		11.1	J	90.8	ſ	49.5	J
Total hexachloro biphenyls	pg/L	26601-64-9	19/19	63	76.7	ſ	3.80	J	2,180		5.98	J	143		76.7	J
Total heptachloro biphenyls	pg/L	28655-71-2	18/19	67	20.6	ſ	5.76	ſŊ	803		2.11	J	92.4		29.5	J
Total octachloro biphenyls	pg/L	55722-26-4	18/19	89	6.56		1.91	ĩ	150		1.59	J	16.2	J	6.56	
Total nonachloro biphenyls	pg/L	53742-07-7	11/19	91	1.12	ŗ	0.57	ſŊ	39.3		1.05	ſŊ	2.44	ſ	1.03	J
Total decachloro biphenyls	pg/L	2051-24-3	6/19	100	3.70	Ĩ	1.13	ĨZ	3.83		1.51	J	2.92	ſZ	2.54	ſŊ
Aroclor 1242	pg/L	53469-21-9	7/19	14	28.9	ſŊ	6.54	ſŊ	275		16.0	Ŋ	28.9	ſŊ	37.1	IJ
Aroclor 1254	pg/L	11097-69-1	5/19	20	19.4	ſŊ	4.31	ſŊ	4,050		11.4	ſZ	26.1	ſŊ	9.30	IJ
Aroclor 1260	pg/L	11096-82-5	16/19	50	58.8		5.76	ſŊ	1,790		9.05		213		90.3	۔ ا
			Polychlorina	ted biphenyls	(by low-re	solutic	n mass sp	ectrol	netry)							
Aroclor 1242	pg/L	53469-21-9	0/19	na	10,000	Ŋ	10,000	D	10,000	Ŋ	10,000	Ŋ	10,000	Ŋ	10,000	Ŋ
Aroclor 1254	pg/L	11097-69-1	0/19	na	10,000	N	10,000	D	10,000	D	10,000	Ŋ	10,000	D	10,000	N
Aroclor 1260	pg/L	11096-82-5	0/19	na	10,000	Ŋ	10,000	D	10,000	D	10,000	U	10,000	D	10,000	n
<sup>1</sup> LPAH is a summed concentration (	of naphthalen	e, acenaphthyle	ne, acenaphthen	ie, fluorene, ph	enanthrene,	and ant	hracene.									
<sup>2</sup> HPAH is a summed concentration	of fluoranthe	ne, pyrene, benz	[a]anthracene, c	chrysene, total	benzofluora	nthenes	(sum of b-	, j-, anc	d k- isomers	), benz	o[a]pyrene,	inden	[1,2,3-c,d]	lpyren	e, dibenzo[ <i>a</i> ,	[4]
anthracene, and benzo $[g,h,i]$ perylene.																
<sup>3</sup> cPAH is a summed concentration c	of benzo(a)an	thracene, chryse	ene, benzo(a)pyi	rene, indeno(1,	2,3-c,d)pyre	sne, dib	enz(a,h)ant	nracen	e, and total l	oenzof	uoranthene	s (sum	of b-, j-, aı	nd k- is	omers).	



Suspended-sediment concentration, in milligrams per liter

**Figure 7.** Relation between arsenic concentrations in paired unfiltered-water and filtered-water samples and suspended-sediment concentration during each sampling period, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

#### **Filtered-Water Chemical Concentrations**

Dissolved organic carbon and metals were detected frequently in filtered-water samples collected at study sites (tables 5 and A5). Dissolved organic carbon was detected in 17 of the 18 samples ranging in concentration from the reporting limit of 1.5 to 4.56 mg/L, with a median of 2.44 mg/L. Dissolved organic carbon accounted for 50-100 percent of TOC, with a median of 79 percent. All but one of the metals that were analyzed for were detected in at least one filtered-water sample (silver was not detected). The same nine metals that were detected in greater than 75 percent of unfiltered-water samples were detected in greater than 40 percent of filtered-water samples. Arsenic was measured in all 19 filtered-water samples, ranging in concentration from 0.3 to 0.7  $\mu$ g/L, with a median concentration of 0.4  $\mu$ g/L. Metals concentrations in unfiltered water generally increased with increasing SSC, whereas metals concentrations in the filtered (dissolved) fraction were similar between sampling periods (see fig. 7 for arsenic as an example). This suggests that the sediment-bound chemicals are an important fraction of the unfiltered-water concentration and that these chemicals should be considered when assessing downstream chemical loading.

#### Suspended-Sediment Chemical Concentrations

Many compounds were detected in suspended-sediment samples, including TOC, metals, PAHs and other semivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides, dioxins/furans, and PCBs (tables 6 and A6). All sediment concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. Total organic carbon content ranged from 0.93 to 10.2 percent with a median of 3.57 percent in the 21 suspended-sediment samples. The highest value occurred during a "first flush" autumn storm in September when there was noticeable biogenic material such as algae in the water. With the exception of antimony, which was detected in 2 of 21 samples, the remaining 17 metals were detected in all or nearly all suspended-sediment samples (tables 6 and A6). Arsenic was detected in all 21 samples, ranging in concentration from 6.6 to 28.0 mg/kg, with a median of 12.7 mg/kg. During this study, all arsenic concentrations greater than 15 mg/kg were measured between July and November. Chromium was detected in all 21 samples at concentrations ranging from 16.5 to 54.0 mg/kg. Copper was detected in all 21 samples at concentrations ranging from 31.0 to 84.0 mg/kg. Mercury also was detected in all 21 samples at concentrations ranging from 0.06 J to 0.20 mg/kg. Zinc was detected in all 21 samples at concentrations ranging from 67.0 to 350 mg/kg. The highest concentrations of many metals, including copper, chromium, mercury, and zinc, were detected during a summer hail storm and an early autumn storm (table A6). Median concentrations of many metals, including chromium, copper, lead nickel, and zinc, were highest in storm samples, as compared to baseline samples and dam samples. However, median concentrations of metals with naturally-occurring sources, such as arsenic and manganese, were highest in baseline samples of suspended sediment.

15.
ĥ
201
'n,
gtc
hin
as
Ś
'ila
ş
Ē
e ai
rse
Sou
)Ť (
9
at
ver
Ē
ish
am
MN
ē
es
dm
sai
ter
wa
-b
ere
filt
.⊑.
pu
no
dш
CO
ed
ect
let
of (
CS
isti
tati
γs
nar
шп
Su
-
е <u>5</u> .
lde
Ĕ

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup>. **Q**, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection. J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit; U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: µg/L, microgram per liter; mg/L, milligram per liter; na, not applicable]

													Sampling	period		
	to tid.	Chemical Abstracte		All w	/ater samp	les (n=	19)				Baseline	e (n=5)	Storm (	(6=u	Dam rel (n=5	ease )
Parameter name		Service	Number of	Detections	Media	an	Minim	m	Maxim	m	Medi	an	Medi	an	Medi	an
		(CAS) No.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	Ø	Result	Ø	Result	р	Result	р	Result	р	Result	Ø
				O	ganic carb	on										
Dissolved organic carbon	mg/L	na	17/18	na	2.44		1.50	n	4.56		1.90		2.44		3.13	
					Metals											
Antimony	µg/L	7440-36-0	8/19	88	0.13	D	0.05	n	0.2		0.07	n	0.13	D	0.09	ſ
Arsenic	µg/L	7440-38-2	19/19	0	0.40		0.30		0.70		0.50		0.50		0.40	
Barium	μg/L	7440-39-3	19/19	0	2.5		1.3		4.0		2.9		2.6		1.4	
Beryllium	μg/L	7440-41-7	1/19	100	0.2	D	0.2	D	0.08	ſ	0.2	D	0.2	D	0.2	D
Cadmium	μg/L	7440-43-9	2/19	100	0.1	D	0.02	D	0.02	ſ	0.1	D	0.1	D	0.1	D
Chromium	μg/L	7440-47-3	8/19	100	1.0	D	0.1	D	0.14	ſ	0.1	J	0.5	D	0.1	ſ
Cobalt	μg/L	7440-48-4	15/16	40	0.2		0.2	D	1.2		0.2		0.6		0.5	
Copper	μg/L	7440-50-8	19/19	0	0.9		0.6		1.6		0.6		0.9		0.9	
Lead	μg/L	7439-92-1	9/19	78	0.1	D	0.08	D	0.1		0.1	D	0.06	ſ	0.06	ſ
Manganese	μg/L	7439-96-5	16/16	0	29.6		8.4		84.8		51.1		27.1		12.7	
Mercury	μg/L	7439-97-6	2/19	100	0.02	D	0.003	D	0.003	ſ	0.02	D	0.02	D	0.02	D
Molybdenum	μg/L	7439-98-7	16/16	63	0.18	ſ	0.08	ſ	0.3		0.18	ſ	0.2		0.1	ſ
Nickel	μg/L	7440-02-0	18/19	61	0.41		0.5	D	1.0		0.43	ſ	0.5		0.39	J
Selenium	μg/L	7782-49-2	2/19	100	0.5	Ŋ	0.5	D	0.13	ſ	0.5	D	0.5	Ŋ	0.5	D
Thallium	μg/L	7440-28-0	1/19	100	0.2	Ŋ	0.2	D	0.01	ſ	0.2	D	0.2	Ŋ	0.2	Ŋ
Vanadium	μg/L	7440-62-2	19/19	0	0.60		0.40		1.0		0.50		0.60		0.80	
Zinc	μg/L	7440-66-6	5/19	80	2.9	D	1.3	D	5.0		2.1	D	4	Ŋ	2.4	D

Summary statistics of detected compounds in suspended-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15. Table 6.

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers® (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup>. detection limit (reporting limit is in Result column). Abbreviations: mg/kg, milligram per kilogram; µg/kg, microgram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; ng/kg, nanogram per Concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. Parameter name: cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection. J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); U, not detected above kilogram; ng TEQ/kg, nanogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; na, not applicable]

												S	ampling pe	eriods		
	llnit of	Chemical Abstracts			All water se	amples	s (n=22)				Baseline (n=6)		Storm (n=10)		Dam rele (n=6)	ase
Parameter name	measure	Service (CAS)	Number of	Detections	Median		Minim	Ē	Maxim	Ę	Median		Media		Media	_
		No.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	a	Result	a	Result	а	Result	a	Result	Ø	Result	р
					Organic car	pon										
Total organic carbon	percent	na	21/21	5	3.57		0.93		10.2		4.03		3.95		2.59	
					Metals											
Antimony	mg/kg	7440-36-0	2/21	100	0.22	D	0.04	n	0.21	ſ	0.15	n	0.22	D	0.4	n
Arsenic	mg/kg	7440-38-2	21/21	0	12.7		6.6		28.0		15.8		13.6		8.8	
Barium	mg/kg	7440-39-3	21/21	0	153		111		232		153		170		142	
Beryllium	mg/kg	7440-41-7	19/21	63	0.57	J	0.8	D	0.87	ſ	0.53	J	0.57	J	0.55	J
Cadmium	mg/kg	7440-43-9	21/21	48	0.37	J	0.11	ſ	3.3		0.50		0.60		0.16	J
Chromium	mg/kg	7440-47-3	21/21	0	27.0		16.5		54.0		28.0		32.5		23.0	
Cobalt	mg/kg	7440-48-4	20/20	0	12.2		9.8		18.0		12.8		12.3		12.0	
Copper	mg/kg	7440-50-8	21/21	0	42.0		31.0		84.0		39.0		49.0		35.5	
Lead	mg/kg	7439-92-1	21/21	0	14.6		6.6		60.3		14.6		22.4		8.3	
Manganese	mg/kg	7439-96-5	20/20	0	1,340		765		4,360		2,380	1	,910		991	
Mercury	mg/kg	7439-97-6	21/21	14	0.10		0.06	J	0.20		0.12		0.10		0.09	
Molybdenum	mg/kg	7439-98-7	20/20	70	0.56	J	0.19	J	2.0		0.76		0.80		0.24	J
Nickel	mg/kg	7440-02-0	21/21	0	28.0		18.1		43.0		27.0		32.5		24.0	
Selenium	mg/kg	7782-49-2	20/21	100	0.50	J	1.00	D	1.00	ŗ	0.80	ſ	0.60	ſ	0.34	J
Silver	mg/kg	7440-22-4	20/21	100	0.19	J	0.16	D	0.59	ſ	0.19	ſ	0.22	ſ	0.18	ſ
Thallium	mg/kg	7440-28-0	19/21	100	0.12	ſ	0.11	N	0.57	ŗ	0.12	ſ	0.13	ſ	0.11	ŗ
Vanadium	mg/kg	7440-62-2	21/21	0	67.2		50.0		106		67.2		71.1		64.1	
Zinc	mg/kg	7440-66-6	21/21	0	130		67.0		350		120		180		79.5	
		д.	olycyclic arc	matic hydrod	carbons and	other	semivolat	lle cor	spunodu							
LPAH <sup>1</sup>	µg/kg	na	20/20	S	108		35.3		216		102		138		56.5	
HPAH <sup>2</sup>	µg/kg	na	20/20	20	457		60.0		2,400	ſ	427	1	,320		114	
$cPAH^{3}$	µg/kg	na	20/20	10	225		33.4		1,410		207		735		60.6	
cPAH <sup>3</sup>	µg TEQ/kg	na	20/20	10	39.9		3.69	J	292		36.0		148		11.7	
1-Methylnaphthalene	µg/kg	90-12-0	17/20	12	10.5		62.0	D	31.9		9.67		10.5		11.2	
2,4,5-Trichlorophenol	μg/kg	95-95-4	1/19	100	290	D	95	D	27	ſ	98	D	400	D	66	D

#### 22 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

Summary statistics of detected compounds in suspended-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.—Continued Table 6.

low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. *Q*, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection. J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit), U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is in Result column). Abbreviations: mg/kg, milligram per kilogram per kilogram; μg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; ng/kg, nanogram per [This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>sw</sup>] Concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. Parameter name: cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, kilogram; ng TEQ/kg, nanogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; na, not applicable]

													Sampling p	eriods		
	Unit of	Chemical Abstracts			All water s	ample	s (n=22)				Baselin (n=6)	e	Storn (n=10		Dam rele (n=6)	ase
Parameter name	measure	Service (CAS)	Number of	Detections	Media	_	Minimu	ε	Maximu	Ē	Media	_	Media	=	Media	_
		N0.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	а	Result	р	Result	D	Result	р	Result	а	Result	D
		Polycyc	lic aromatic	hydrocarbon	s and othe	semiv	/olatile com	bounc	ls—Continu	per						
2-Methylnaphthalene	µg/kg	91-57-6	17/20	0	15.8		62.0	D	48.4		15.8		16.1		13.5	
2-Methylphenol	µg/kg	95-48-7	1/19	100	58	Ŋ	19	D	29	ſ	24	D	82	Ŋ	20	D
4-Methylphenol	µg/kg	106-44-5	13/19	31	36	J	19	Ŋ	930		144		47	ſ	25	
Benzoic acid	µg/kg	65-85-0	18/19	44	066	J	110	ſ	3,200	ſ	1,280	J	1,100	J	560	
Benzyl alcohol	µg/kg	100-51-6	18/19	17	600		81	Ŋ	1,100		430		740		500	
bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	µg/kg	117-81-7	19/19	0	1,400		210		3,900		395		2,000		515	
Butylbenzylphthalate	µg/kg	85-68-7	15/19	27	82		19	Ŋ	1,400		39		820		46	
Carbazole	µg/kg	86-74-8	4/19	75	62	N	19	D	470		20	D	66	N	20	D
Dibenzofuran	µg/kg	132-64-9	17/20	12	8.0		62	Ŋ	15.4		8.6		9.3		5.5	
Diethylphthalate	µg/kg	84-66-2	3/19	0	60	D	19	D	500		20	D	66	D	20	D
Di-n-Butylphthalate	µg/kg	84-74-2	5/19	60	62	D	19	D	460		20	D	120	Ŋ	20	D
Di-n-Octyl phthalate	µg/kg	117-84-0	9/19	22	12	J	19	D	450		15		94		20	D
Pentachlorophenol	µg/kg	87-86-5	3/19	100	300	Ŋ	95	D	90	ſ	19	ſ	400	Ŋ	66	D
Phenol	µg/kg	108-95-2	15/19	13	150		19	D	390		225		150		65	n
					Butyltir	s										
Butyltin	µg/kg	78763-54-9	7/15	14	14	n	3.8	D	61		4.6		8.6		3.9	n
Dibutyltin ion	µg/kg	14488-53-0	5/15	0	5.7	N	5.4	Ŋ	39		5.7	Ŋ	15		5.5	Ŋ
Tributyltin ion	µg/kg	36643-28-4	0/15	na	3.7	Ŋ	3.6	D	13	D	3.7	D	3.7	Ŋ	3.7	D
					Pesticid	es										
Dieldrin	µg/kg	60-57-1	1/18	100	3.3	n	1.3	D	1.0	ſ	3.3	D	3.3	D	3.2	D
Endosulfan sulfate	µg/kg	1031-07-8	1/18	0	3.3	D	1.3	D	1.8		3.3	D	3.3	D	3.2	D
p,p'-DDD	µg/kg	72-54-8	1/18	0	3.3	D	1.3	D	3.0		3.3	D	3.3	D	3.2	D
p,p'-DDT	µg/kg	50-29-3	1/18	0	3.3	N	1.3	Ŋ	2.6		3.3	Ŋ	3.3	N	3.2	N
					Dioxins/fu	rans										
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	ng/kg	na	22/22	0	707		72.7		4,210		707		1,370		148	
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	ng TEQ/kg	na	22/22	86	3.25	J	0.526	J	19.3	J	3.25	J	6.42	J	0.850	J

Summary statistics of detected compounds in suspended-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.—Continued Table 6.

low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. *Q*, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection. J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is in Result column). Abbreviations: mg/kg, miligram per kilogram; µg/kg, microgram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, nanogram per kilogram; µg/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, microgram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram; µg/kg, manogram; µg/kg [This table contains CAS Registry Numbers® (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup>. Concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. Parameter name: cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH,

											S	ampling pe	riods		
	llnit of	Chemical Abstracts			All water se	amples (r	I=22)			Baselir (n=6)	e	Storm (n=10)		Dam relea (n=6)	se
Parameter name	measure	Service (CAS)	Numher of	Detections	Median		Minimur	=	Maximum	Media	_	Median		Median	
		No.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	a	Result	a	Result <i>Q</i>	Result	Ø	Result	a	Result	a
		-	Polychlorina	ted biphenyls	s (by high-re	solution	mass sp	ectrome	try)	_					
Total polychlorinated biphenyls <sup>5</sup>	µg/kg	1336-36-3	22/22	0	7.93		0.448		83.9	7.93		15.8		0.869	
Total monochloro biphenyls	µg/kg	27323-18-8	22/22	5	0.008		0.003		0.186	0.00	ſ	0.014		0.003	
Total dichloro biphenyls	µg/kg	25512-42-9	22/22	0	0.107		0.022		1.45	0.100		0.245		0.035	
Total trichloro biphenyls	µg/kg	25323-68-6	22/22	0	0.289		0.036		3.13	0.289		0.596		0.064	
Total tetrachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	26914-33-0	22/22	0	1.02		0.059		9.23	1.04		1.70		0.119	
Total pentachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	25429-29-2	22/22	0	2.56		0.119		26.8	2.40		4.50		0.224	
Total hexachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	26601-64-9	22/22	0	2.47		0.129		27.6	2.36		5.03		0.255	
Total heptachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	28655-71-2	22/22	0	1.05		0.045		11.1	1.05		2.32		0.089	
Total octachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	55722-26-4	22/22	0	0.396		0.019		3.58	0.396		0.733		0.045	
Total nonachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	53742-07-7	22/22	0	0.102		0.009		0.893	0.102		0.187		0.013	
Total decachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	2051-24-3	21/22	0	0.030		0.004		0.161	0.036		0.064		0.009	
Aroclor 1242	µg/kg	53469-21-9	22/22	0	0.509		0.067		5.18	0.509		1.03		0.116	
Aroclor 1254	µg/kg	11097-69-1	22/22	0	3.83		0.195		39.4	3.51		6.54		0.359	
Aroclor 1260	µg/kg	11096-82-5	22/22	0	2.18		0.127		26.0	2.18		5.98		0.254	
			Polychlorina	ted biphenyl	s (by low-re	solution	mass spe	etrome	ry)						
Aroclor 1242	μg/kg	53469-21-9	0/13	na	4.0	Ŋ	3.8	U	32 U	4.0	Ŋ	5.0	D	4.0	D
Aroclor 1254	µg/kg	11097-69-1	8/13	13	6.5		3.9	N	40	8.0		19		4.0	D
Aroclor 1260	µg/kg	11096-82-5	9/13	33	4.2		3.9	U	19	5.6		13		4.0	n
<sup>1</sup> LPAH is a summed concentration o	of naphthalen	e, acenaphthylen	e, acenaphthei	ie, fluorene, pł	enanthrene,	and anthr	acene.								
<sup>2</sup> HPAH is a summed concentration $\mathfrak{c}$ anthracene, and benzo[ $g,h,i$ ]perylene.	of fluoranther	ie, pyrene, benz[	<i>i</i> ]anthracene,	chrysene, total	benzofluorar	athenes (s	um of b-,	-, and k-	isomers), ben	zo[ <i>a</i> ]pyrene,	indeno[	1,2,3 <i>-c</i> , <i>d</i> ]pyr	ene, dib	enzo[ <i>a</i> , <i>h</i> ]	
<sup>3</sup> cPAH is a summed concentration o	f benzo( <i>a</i> )an	thracene, chrysen	e, benzo(a)py	rene, indeno(1	,2,3- <i>c</i> , <i>d</i> )pyre	ne, diben	z( <i>a</i> , <i>h</i> )anth	acene, a	nd total benzo	luoranthenes	(sum of	f b-, j-, and k	- isomer	s).	

<sup>5</sup>Total polychlorinated biphenyls is a summed concentration of 209 congeners.

<sup>4</sup>Total dioxins/furans is a summed concentration of 17 congeners.

One or more PAHs were detected in all 20 suspendedsediment samples. Carcinogenic PAHs were detected in all 20 samples, ranging from 3.69 J to 292  $\mu$ g TEQ/kg, with a median of 39.9 µg TEQ/kg (tables 6 and A6). Concentrations of cPAHs were much higher during storms (median 148 µg TEQ/kg) than during baseline events (median 36.0 µg TEQ/kg) or dam releases (median 11.7 µg TEQ/kg). Other than PAHs, the most commonly detected semivolatile compounds included benzoic acid, benzyl alcohol, and bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (tables 6 and A6). Of the butyltin species, butyltin was detected in 7 of 15 samples with a maximum concentration of 61 µg/kg, dibutyltin was detected in 5 of 15 samples with a maximum concentration of 39 µg/kg, and tributyltin was not detected. The pesticides dieldrin, endosulfan sulfate, p,p'-DDD, and p,p'-DDT were detected in 1 of 18 samples, during a large winter storm. All other pesticides were not detected.

Dioxins/furans were detected in all 22 suspendedsediment samples ranging in concentration from 0.526 J to 19.3 J ng TEQ/kg, with a median of 3.25 J ng TEQ/kg (tables 6 and A6). Total PCBs also were detected in all 22 suspended-sediment samples ranging in concentration from 0.448 to 83.9  $\mu$ g/kg, with a median of 7.93  $\mu$ g/kg (tables 6 and A6). Similar to metals and PAHs, median concentrations of dioxins/furans and median concentrations of PCBs were higher during storm sampling, especially in summer and early autumn storms, as compared to median concentrations of samples collected during baseline or dam release periods (table 6). Results for PCB Aroclor concentrations were compared between a low-resolution method and a highresolution method. One laboratory calculated Aroclors using a low-resolution mass spectrometry method (EPA 8082A) in which the chromatogram of the environmental sample is compared to Aroclor calibration standards. The other laboratory calculated Aroclors from equations summing the results of individual congeners determined using a high-resolution mass spectrometry methods (EPA 1668C).

Concentrations determined from the low-resolution method were typically two to four times higher than concentrations reported from the high-resolution method (tables 6 and A6).

The three samples in which there was sufficient sediment for VOC analysis included one detection each of acetone at 34 J  $\mu$ g/kg and toluene at 1.5 J  $\mu$ g/kg (table A6). All other VOCs, as well as hexavalent chromium, were not detected.

#### **Bed-Sediment Chemical Concentrations**

The four sets of bed-sediment samples were collected during low-flow, low-precipitation conditions when the 72-hour antecedent precipitation was less than or equal to 0.51 in (table A3). Total organic carbon, metals, PAHs and other semivolatile compounds, VOCs, dioxins/furans, and PCBs were detected in the four bulk (sieved to less than 2 mm) bed-sediment samples (tables 7 and A7). All sediment concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. Concentrations of TOC ranged from 0.95 to 1.10 percent. Seventeen of the 18 metals were detected, including arsenic (4.4 to 5.6 mg/kg) and mercury (0.02 J to 0.05 mg/kg). Total cPAHs ranged in concentration from 9.46 J to 18.7 µg TEQ/kg. Total dioxins/furans ranged in concentration from 0.409 J to 0.575 J ng TEQ/kg. Total PCBs ranged in concentration from 0.918 to 2.59 µg/kg. Several VOCs and other semivolatile compounds were detected, including benzoic acid, benzyl alcohol, and bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate.

The same suite of compounds was detected in the four fine (sieved to less than  $62.5 \ \mu m$ ) bed-sediment samples as in the corresponding bulk bed-sediment samples (tables 7 and A7. Additionally, hexavalent chromium and diethylphthalate were each detected once in fine bed material, but neither was detected in bulk bed material. When analyte concentrations were compared between paired bulk and fine bed-sediment samples, the concentration in the fine bed-sediment sample was similar to or greater than the concentration in the bulk bed-sediment sample for all analytes, except for a few PAHs such as 2-methylnaphthalene and 1-methylnaphthalene.

Table 7. Summary statistics of detected compounds in bed-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup>. Concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. **Parameter name:** cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low limit (reporting limit is in Result column). Abbreviations: mg/kg, milligram per kilogram; µg/kg, microgram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; ng/kg, nanogram per kilogram; molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection. J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); U, not detected above detection ng TEQ/kg, nanogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; na, not applicable]

				Bed-sedi	ment sample	s (<2 mm [	n=4])			Bed-sed	liment samp	les (<6	2.5 μm [n=4]			
Devenator nomo	Unit of	Abstracts	Number of	Detections	Median	Minin	mn	Maximum	Number of	Detections	Median		Minimum	<	laximum	_
	measure	Service (CAS) No.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result C	Result	а	Result 0	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	а	Result	a r	esult C	a
					Ore	ganic carb	u									
Total organic carbon	percent	na	4/4	na	1.02	0.95		1.10	4/4	na	2.27		1.48		2.50	
					Нехаv	alent chro	mium									
Hexavalent chromium	mg/kg	18540-29-9	0/4	na	0.642 U	0.56	n	0.703 U	1/4	na	3.73	n	1.14	5	1.17	
						Metals										
Arsenic	mg/kg	7440-38-2	4/4	0	4.7	4.4		5.6	4/4	0	10.3		9.0		3.0	
Barium	mg/kg	7440-39-3	4/4	0	73.3	70.8		93.2	4/4	0	116		73.0	1	Ľ	
Beryllium	mg/kg	7440-41-7	4/4	50	0.29 J	0.27	ſ	0.40	3/4	100	0.46	ſ	2.0	D	0.55 J	I
Cadmium	mg/kg	7440-43-9	3/4	67	0.075 J	0.20	D	0.20	4/4	75	0.51	J	0.18	J	1.0	
Chromium	mg/kg	7440-47-3	4/4	0	16.7	15.5		20.0	4/4	0	28.5		17.0	0.1	1.0	
Cobalt	mg/kg	7440-48-4	4/4	0	6.45	6.40		8.00	4/4	0	10.3		6.00		1.2	
Copper	mg/kg	7440-50-8	4/4	0	16.4	15.5		21.2	4/4	0	33.5		23.0	0.1	0.6	
Lead	mg/kg	7439-92-1	4/4	0	4.80	4.50		6.10	4/4	0	11.5		8.80	,,	3.0	
Manganese	mg/kg	7439-96-5	4/4	0	502	458		576	4/4	0	935		865	96	5	
Mercury	mg/kg	7439-97-6	4/4	25	0.04	0.02	ſ	0.05	3/4	33	0.07	ſ	0.20	D	0.12	
Molybdenum	mg/kg	7439-98-7	3/4	100	0.14 J	0.3	D	0.16 J	3/4	67	0.53	ſ	2.0	D	1.0 J	ſ
Nickel	mg/kg	7440-02-0	4/4	0	16.6	16.1		21.2	4/4	0	26.5		15.0	0.1	0.0	
Selenium	mg/kg	7782-49-2	2/4	100	0.16 J	0.80	D	0.31 J	2/4	100	0.5	ſ	4.0	D	0.70 J	ſ
Silver	mg/kg	7440-22-4	3/4	100	0.058 J	0.30	D	0.098 J	3/4	100	0.11	ſ	2.0	D	0.16 J	ſ
Thallium	mg/kg	7440-28-0	3/4	100	0.047 J	0.3	D	0.06 J	3/4	100	0.091	ſ	2.0	D	0.12 J	ſ
Vanadium	mg/kg	7440-62-2	4/4	0	38.9	36.6		49.0	4/4	0	63.1		46.0	( -	5.0	
Zinc	mg/kg	7440-66-6	4/4	0	49.5	48.0		58.0	4/4	0	85.0		60.0	0,	0.0	
			Polyc	yclic aroma	tic hydrocarl	oons and c	ther ser	nivolatile co	npounds							
LPAH <sup>1</sup>	µg/kg	na	4/4	0	40.9	28.1		57.9	4/4	0	57.7		32.3	~	8.1	
$HPAH^{2}$	µg/kg	na	4/4	25	122	93.5	J	159	4/4	50	214	J	140	4	( 0	Ĺ
$cPAH^{3}$	µg/kg	na	4/4	50	66.4	49.3	ſ	88.1	4/4	75	115	J	78.3	53	.6 J	ŗ
$cPAH^{3}$	µg TEQ/kg	na	4/4	25	13.3	9.46	J	18.7	4/4	50	22.8	ſ	15.0	7	4.6 J	Ĺ
1-Methylnaphthalene	µg/kg	90-12-0	4/4	0	11.0	6.32		16.2	4/4	0	4.89		4.32		6.93	

#### 26 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

Summary statistics of detected compounds in bed-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.—Continued Table 7.

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>3N</sup>. Concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. **Parameter name:** cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. **Q**, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection. J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is in Result column). Abbreviations: mg/kg, milligram per kilogram; µg/kg, microgram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; µg/kg, manogram per kilogram; ogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; na, not applicable] ng TEO/kg. nan

				Bed-sedi	ment samp	iles (<	2 mm [n=4]	-			Bed-se	diment samp	oles (<6	2.5 μm [n=/	(		
	Unit of	Chemical Abstracts	Number of	Detections	Media	-	Minimum	Maxin	mn	Number of	Detections	Mediar	_	Minimur	_	Maximum	_
rarameter name	measure	Service (CAS) No.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	a 1	sesult 0	Result	а	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	а	Result	a	Result	a
			Polycyclic ;	aromatic hyc	Irocarbons	and o	ther semiv	olatile con	Junodu	ls—Continu	per						
2-Methylnaphthalene	µg/kg	91-57-6	4/4	0	11.1		7.57	15.2		4/4	0	7.59		5.88		10.8	
4-Methylphenol	µg/kg	106-44-5	4/4	50	18	ſ	14 J	22		1/3	0	20	Ŋ	20	D	28	
Benzoic acid	µg/kg	65-85-0	4/4	50	360	1(	50 J	660	ſ	3/3	33	560	J	300	1,	100	
Benzyl alcohol	µg/kg	100-51-6	3/4	0	165		19 U	210		3/3	0	150		140	7	470	
bis(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate	µg/kg	117-81-7	3/4	100	32	J ,	49 U	38	ſ	3/3	33	51		44	ſ	110	
Dibenzofuran	µg/kg	132-64-9	4/4	0	4.9		3.6	6.4		4/4	0	5.0		3.1		5.8	
Diethylphthalate	µg/kg	84-66-2	0/0	na	20	D	19 U	240	D	1/3	0	72	n	20	D	34	
Phenol	μg/kg	108-95-2	3/4	0	36	7	43 U	49		2/3	0	24		110	Ŋ	44	
					Volatile	organ	iic compou	spu									
2-Butanone	µg/kg	78-93-3	1/4	100	6.6	n	6.3 U	4.7	ſ	2/4	100	8.4	ſ	13	n	27	_
Acetone	µg/kg	67-64-1	2/4	100	6.2	ſ	8.3 U	13	ſ	3/4	33	62	ſ	13	D	110	
Methylene chloride	μg/kg	75-09-2	1/4	0	3.3	D	3.3 U	3.0		1/4	0	18	Ŋ	5.1	Ŋ	7.9	
						Dioxins	s/furans										
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	ng/kg	na	4/4	0	93.7		82.2	101		4/4	0	470		231	0,	971	
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	ng TEQ/kg	ş na	4/4	100	0.523	J	0.409 J	0.57	5 J	4/4	100	2.35	J	1.12	J	4.73	_
			Pol	ychlorinated	biphenyls	(by hiç	gh-resoluti	on mass s	pectro	metry)							
Total polychlorinated biphenyls <sup>5</sup>	µg/kg	1336-36-3	4/4	0	1.50		0.918	2.59		4/4	0	5.49		2.06		12.1	
Total monochloro biphenyls	µg/kg	27323-18-8	4/4	25	0.003		0.002	0.00	4 J	4/4	75	0.0063	J	0.003	ſ	0.012	_
Total dichloro biphenyls	µg/kg	25512-42-9	4/4	0	0.012		0.008	0.02	9	4/4	0	0.057		0.031		0.172	
Total trichloro biphenyls	µg/kg	25323-68-6	4/4	0	0.071		0.058	0.13	6	4/4	0	0.213		0.100		0.437	
Total tetrachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	26914-33-0	4/4	0	0.194		0.148	0.38	9	4/4	0	0.668		0.275		1.21	
Total pentachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	25429-29-2	4/4	0	0.432		0.281	0.84	5	4/4	0	1.77		0.619		3.39	
Total hexachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	26601-64-9	4/4	0	0.444		0.243	0.78		4/4	0	1.71		0.619		3.77	
Total heptachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	28655-71-2	4/4	0	0.224		0.096	0.33	ŝ	4/4	0	0.695		0.259		2.01	
Total octachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	55722-26-4	4/4	0	0.066		0.038	0.12	2	4/4	0	0.258		0.104		0.771	
Total nonachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	53742-07-7	4/4	0	0.017		0.012	0.03	0	4/4	0	0.083		0.031		0.182	
Total decachloro biphenyls	µg/kg	2051-24-3	4/4	0	0.006		0.005	0.01		4/4	0	0.027		0.014		0.105	

Table 7. Summary statistics of detected compounds in bed-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.—Continued

Concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. Parameter name: cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low [This table contains CAS Registry Numbers® (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>8M</sup>. limit (reporting limit is in Result column). Abbreviations: mg/kg, milligram per kilogram; µg/kg, microgram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; ng/kg, nanogram per kilogram; molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection. J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); U, not detected above detection ng TEQ/kg, nanogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; na, not applicable]

		- Chaminal		Bed-sedir	nent samples	: (<2 mm [n=4]			Bed-sed	iment sample:	s (<62.!	5 μm [n=4])		
	Unit of	Abstracts	Number of	Detections	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Number of	Detections	Median		Minimum	Ma	kimum
rarameter name	measure	Service (CAS) No.	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result <b>0</b>	Result <b>0</b>	Result 0	detects/ samples	with J qualifier (percent)	Result	- I - D	Sesult (	Res	ult <i>Q</i>
			Polychlor	inated bipher	ı-hgih yd) slyr	resolution mas	s spectrometr	y)—Continue	pe					
Aroclor 1242	µg/kg	53469-21-9	4/4	0	0.125	0.101	0.248	4/4	0	0.375		0.172	0	766
Aroclor 1254	µg/kg	11097-69-1	4/4	0	0.658	0.459	1.26	4/4	0	2.72		1.02	5.	05
Aroclor 1260	µg/kg	11096-82-5	4/4	0	0.483	0.253	0.746	4/4	0	1.68		0.701	4	75
			Po	lychlorinated	biphenyls (by	/ low-resolutio	in mass spectr	ometry)						
Aroclor 1242	µg/kg	53469-21-9	0/0	na	4.0 U	3.8 U	19 U	0/2	na	4.0 1	D	3.9 L	1 4.0	U (
Aroclor 1254	µg/kg	11097-69-1	2/4	100	3.2 J	4.0 U	3.7 J	2/2	100	5.3	J	3.2 J	, L	t J
Aroclor 1260	µg/kg	11096-82-5	1/4	100	4.0 U	3.8 U	2.8 J	2/2	100	3.1	ſ	2.4 J		S J
<sup>1</sup> LPAH is a summed concentratio	n of naphtha	llene, acenapht	hylene, acen	aphthene, fluc	orene, phenant	hrene, and anth	racene.							
<sup>2</sup> HPAH is a summed concentratic	n of fluoran	thene, pyrene,	benz[a]anthr	acene, chryse	ne, total benzo	ofluoranthenes	(sum of b-, j-, a	nd k- isomers	s), benzo[a]pyre	me, indeno[1,2	$[,3-c,d]_{l}$	oyrene, dib	enzo[ <i>a</i> , <i>h</i> ]	

anthracene, and benzo[g,h,i]perylene.

<sup>3</sup>cPAH is a summed concentration of benzo(a)anthracene, chrysene, benzo(a)pyrene, indeno(1,2,3-c,d)pyrene, dibenz(a,h)anthracene, and total benzofluoranthenes (sum of b-, j-, and k- isomers).

<sup>4</sup>Total dioxins/furans is a summed concentration of 17 congeners.

<sup>5</sup>Total polychlorinated biphenyls is a summed concentration of 209 congeners.

#### Quality-Control Chemical Concentrations

Many compounds, including pesticides, butyltins, and hexavalent chromium, were not detected in the five trip-blank samples and five equipment-blank water samples analyzed for all compounds (tables A8 and A9). Naphthalene was detected at concentrations ranging from 0.011 to 0.019 µg/L in three of the five trip-blank samples and at concentrations ranging from 0.011 to 0.033  $\mu$ g/L in four of the five equipmentblank samples although it was detected in only one of 16 laboratory blank samples at a concentration of 0.0091 J  $\mu$ g/L. This suggests that low levels of naphthalene may have been present in sample bottles or introduced during bottle filling at the laboratory or in the field. Naphthalene concentrations in river water samples (maximum concentration=0.027 µg/L; table A4) were similar to these field blank concentrations  $(0.033 \,\mu g/L)$ . All naphthalene detections in river samples were censored as non-detections (U-qualified). No other PAHs were detected in the trip- and equipment-blank samples. There were sporadic detections in the trip- and equipment-blank samples of some common laboratory contaminants such as benzyl alcohol, methylene chloride, benzene, chloroform, and acetone (tables A8 and A10). No other semi-volatile compounds or VOCs were detected. Low-levels of metals were detected in both unfiltered- and filtered-water blank samples, including barium and manganese (table A8). Metals concentrations in river water samples typically were more than 10 times higher than the highest blank concentration; therefore, the environmental results were deemed acceptable and were not qualified.

Concentrations of PCBs in the trip and equipment water blank samples indicate that the sample collection and processing protocol is acceptable for low-level PCB analysis. Concentrations of total PCBs in the five trip-blank and the five field equipment-blank water samples ranged from 9 J to 31 J pg/L and from 28 J to 78 J pg/L, respectively (table A9). These concentrations are less than typical environmental baseline levels (about 100-150 pg/L) and less than the background levels measured in corresponding laboratory blank samples (range: 20.9 to 243 pg/L; median: 188 pg/L). The higher concentrations in the equipment-blank samples in comparison to the trip-blank samples were mostly from the contribution of the dichloro- through hexachloro-homologs (table A9). Dioxins/furans were not detected in trip- and field equipmentblank water samples with the exception of one concentration of 1.37 J pg/L in a trip-blank sample and one concentration of 0.818 J pg/L in an equipment blank sample (table A9).

The fine silica sand source blank used to process the suspended-sediment equipment blank (see section, "Quality Assurance and Quality Control") contained low concentrations of metals, dioxins/furans, and PCBs (table A11). After the source sediment had been processed through the suspended-sediment sampling equipment (pumps, tubing, and centrifuge), low concentrations of metals, dioxins/furans, and PCBs were detected, as well as bulk organic carbon, diethylphthalate, and a few PAHs. Overall, median environmental concentrations on suspended sediment were 8 to greater than 1,000 times higher than the equipment blank concentrations (table A11).

In addition to testing the suspended-sediment processing equipment for introduction of contaminants, the suspendedsediment sampling process also was tested on two occasions (February 2015 and March 2015) for loss of compounds, particularly of semivolatile compounds during centrifugation (see section, "Quality Assurance and Quality Control"). Recoveries were greater than 65 percent for most detected compounds, including metals, PAHs and other semivolatile compounds (table A12). Some VOCs such as methylene chloride, acetone, and 2-butanone had low recoveries, as expected for volatile compounds during the centrifugation process. Some semivolatile compounds such as benzyl alcohol and benzoic acid also had low recoveries during the March 2015 centrifugation test, but recoveries for these same compounds were high during the February 2015 test. During the March 2015 test, concentrations of most compounds in the centrifuged sample were greater than concentrations in the bulk bed-sediment sample. This is likely owing to the change in PSD from about 17 percent fines in the bulk bed-sediment sample to 75 percent fines in the centrifuged sample. Organic compounds preferentially sorb to fine-grained sediments with high organic carbon contents as compared to bulk bed sediment. During the February 2015 test, the fine fraction of both samples was compared, and percent recovery of individual compounds in the centrifuged sample ranged from 68 percent (naphthalene) to 178 percent (fluoranthene). These recoveries are in the range of expected recoveries for individual compounds in laboratory-spiked samples. The centrifuge experiments confirm that losses of VOCs can occur during the centrifugation process. The results also suggest that centrifugation may result in a finer-grained final sample as compared to the pre-centrifuged sample. In this study, the reported PSD of suspended sediment was determined by analysis of the depth- and width-integrated water sample per USGS methods (see task 4 in table 1) and not by analysis

of the centrifuged sample (because of limited mass). The suspended-sediment sample collection and laboratoryprocessing protocols for chemical parameters were deemed appropriate for this project, and no individual suspendedsediment data were qualified.

The relative percent difference between individual analyte concentrations detected in concurrent field replicates of water samples ranged from 0 to 89 percent with a median of 12 percent for unqualified detections and a median of 18 percent when one or both concentrations were J-qualified (table A13). The summed concentration (as pg TEQ/L) of 17 dioxins/furans differed by 7 to 10 percent, and the summed concentration of the 209 PCB congeners differed by 32 to 63 percent. The relative percent difference between the parameter concentration in bed-sediment field split samples (table A14) ranged from 0 to 81 percent, with a median of 17 percent.

Acceptance criteria selected for the Puget Sound SRM followed that used by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in evaluating analytical performance by commercial laboratories in round-robin tests of the Puget Sound SRM (http://www.nws.usace.army.mil/Missions/CivilWorks/ Dredging/SRM.aspx), and was plus or minus 50 percent for individual dioxins/furans and PCB congeners and within the 95 percent confidence interval for PCB Aroclor 1260. The laboratory results for the SRM for this project were within the acceptance criteria for all compounds, with the exception of 1,2,3,7,8,9-hexachlorodibenzofuran, 2,3,4,6,7,8-hexachlorodibenzofuran, PCB congener 37 and PCB congeners 50/53 (table A15).

Other than censoring naphthalene detections in unfilteredwater samples, the results from various field quality-assurance samples were deemed satisfactory and no additional qualifications were applied to the environmental data.

### Comparison of Suspended Sediment and Bed Sediment

Median concentrations of individual compounds (table 8) in suspended sediment (sample size of 20-22) were greater than median concentrations in fine bed sediment (sample size of 4), which were greater than median concentrations in bulk bed-sediment samples (sample size of 4). Suspendedsediment samples were collected on days targeting a range of flow and sediment conditions, whereas the bed-sediment samples were collected on different days targeting low-flow conditions (72-hour antecedent precipitation was less than or equal to 0.51 in.). When the dry weight concentrations were normalized for organic carbon content (table 8), the median concentrations of dioxins/furans and PCBs in fine bed sediment were similar to or greater than median concentrations in suspended sediment and bulk bed sediment. In contrast, LPAHs were highest in bulk bed sediment, and HPAHs and total cPAHs were highest in suspended sediment.

The bed-sediment PSD was similar across the four sampling periods (fig. 8*A*). Between 76 and 91 percent of the weight was comprised of particles less than or equal to 250  $\mu$ m, with most of the total weight (59–70 percent) comprised of particles between 62.5 and 250  $\mu$ m, whereas 15–24 percent was fine material less than 62.5  $\mu$ m. In contrast, the percentage of fine material less than 62.5  $\mu$ m for the suspended-sediment samples was higher (fig. 8*B*), ranging from 56 percent during a large lowlands storm to 95 percent during a summer storm (table A2), with a median of 80 percent (table 4). A median of 57 percent of the suspendedsediment weight was composed of particles smaller than 8  $\mu$ m, compared to 4 percent for the bed-sediment samples (fig. 8). Comparison of select parameters in suspended sediment, bed sediment less than 62.5 µm, and bed sediment less than two mm, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15. Table 8.

[Concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. **Parameter name:** cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. **Q**, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: μm, micrometer; μg/kg, microgram per kilogram; μg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; mg/kg, milligram per kilogram; mm, millimeter; ng/kg, nanogram per kilogram; ng TEQ/kg, nanogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; mg/kg, nanogram; mg/kg, nanogram

		Suspen	ded sediment (	n=20-22)	Fine bed	sediment (<62.5	μm [n=4])	Bulk bed	sediment (<2	nm [n=4])
Parameter name	Unit of measure	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Median	Minimum	Maximum
		Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result <b>0</b>	Result 0	Result 0
				Organic car	pon					
Total organic carbon	percent	3.57	0.93	10.2	2.27	1.48	2.5	1.02	0.95	1.1
Fine sediment (less than $62.5 \ \mu m$ )	percent	80	56	95	66	98	66	18	15	24
Dry weight concentrations										
				Metals						
Arsenic	µg/kg	12.7	6.6	28.0	10.3	9.0	13.0	4.7	4.4	5.6
Copper	μg/kg	42.0	31.0	84.0	33.5	23.0	39.0	16.4	15.5	21.2
Lead	μg/kg	14.6	6.6	60.3	11.5	8.8	13.0	4.8	4.5	6.1
Mercury	µg/kg	0.10	0.063 J	0.20	0.074	0.20 U	0.12 J	0.035	0.024	0.050
			Polycy	/clic aromatic h	ydrocarbons					
LPAH	µg/kg	108	35.3	216	57.7	32.3	88.1	40.9	28.1	57.9
НРАН	µg/kg	457	60.0	2,400	214	140	420 J	122	93.5 J	159
cPAH	μg/kg	225	33.4	1,410	115	78.3	226 J	66.4	49.3 J	88.1 J
cPAH	μg TEQ/kg	39.9	3.69 J	292	22.8	15.0	44.6 J	13.3	9.46 J	18.7
				Dioxins/fura	ans					
Total dioxins/furans	ng/kg	707	72.7	4,210	470	231	971	93.7	82.2	101
Total dioxins/furans	ng TEQ/kg	3.25 J	0.526 J	19.3	2.35 J	1.12 J	4.73 J	0.523 J	0.409 J	0.575 J
		Polych	lorinated biphe	nyls (by high-re	solution mass s	spectrometry)				
Total polychlorinated biphenyls	µg/kg	7.93	0.448	83.9	5.49	2.06	12.1	1.50	0.918	2.59
Aroclor 1242	μg/kg	0.509	0.067	5.18	0.375	0.172	0.766	0.125	0.101	0.248
Aroclor 1254	µg/kg	3.83	0.195	39.4	2.72	1.02	5.05	0.658	0.459	1.26
Aroclor 1260	μg/kg	2.18	0.127	26.0	1.68	0.701	4.75	0.483	0.253	0.746

Table 8. Comparison of select parameters in suspended sediment, bed sediment less than 62.5 µm, and bed sediment less than two mm, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.—Continued Concentrations are reported as a dry weight concentration. **Parameter name:** cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. *Q*, **qualifier:** Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: µm, micrometer; µg/kg, microgram per kilogram; µg TEQ/kg, microgram toxic equivalent per kilogram; mg/kg, milligram per kilogram; ng/kg, nanogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; ng/kg, nanogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; mg/kg, nanogram toxic equivalent per kilogram; ng/kg, nanogram; n

		Suspen	ided sediment	(n=20-22)	Fine bed	sediment (<62.5	μm [n=4])	Bulk be	d sediment (<2	mm [n=4])
Parameter name	Unit of measure	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Median	Minimum	Maximum	Median	Minimum	Maximum
		Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0	Result 0
Organic carbon-normalized conc	entrations									
			Polyc	cyclic aromatic l	Jydrocarbons					
LPAH <sup>1</sup>	mg/kg TOC	3.2	1.1	9.1	3.3	1.3	3.7	4.0	2.6	6.1
HPAH <sup>2</sup>	mg/kg TOC	16	3.4	72	12.1	5.6	17.3 J	11.8	8.7 J	16.8
cPAH <sup>3</sup>	mg/kg TOC	8.1	1.9	40	6.4	3.1	9.3 J	6.5	4.6 J	9.3 J
cPAH <sup>3</sup>	mg TEQ/kg TOC	1.5	0.2 J	8.2	1.3	0.6	1.8 J	1.3	0.88 J	2.0
				Dioxins/fur	ans					
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	μg/kg TOC	19.4	3.02	75.4	20.7	15.6	40.0	8.93	8.55	9.94
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	ng TEQ/kg TOC	85.0	19.4 J	334	102 J	75.6 J	195 J	48.0 J	43.2 J	60.2 J
		Polych	Ilorinated biph	enyls (by high-re	esolution mass	spectrometry)				
Total polychlorinated biphenyls <sup>5</sup>	μg/kg TOC	184	16.8	1,450	233	139	496	138	95.3	271
Aroclor 1242	μg/kg TOC	15.3	1.50	123	16.1	11.6	31.5	12.1	9.3	25.9
Aroclor 1254	μg/kg TOC	113	7.59	682	115	68.9	208	63.2	42.5	132
Aroclor 1260	μg/kg TOC	72.2	5.54	450	72.1	47.4	195	48.6	26.7	67.8
<sup>1</sup> LPAH is a summed concentration c	of naphthalene, acenaph	ithylene, acenaj	phthene, fluoren	e, phenanthrene, a	ind anthracene.					
<sup>2</sup> HPAH is a summed concentration (anthracene, and benzolg, $h,i$ ]perylene.	of fluoranthene, pyrene,	, benz[ <i>a</i> ]anthra	cene, chrysene, t	total benzofluoran	thenes (sum of b-	, j-, and k- isomer	s), benzo[ <i>a</i> ]pyre	ne, indeno[1,2,3	i- <i>c,d</i> ]pyrene, dibe	enzo[a,h]
<sup>3</sup> cPAH is a summed concentration o	f benzo( <i>a</i> )anthracene, c	chrysene, benzo	o(a)pyrene, inder	no(1,2,3- <i>c</i> , <i>d</i> )pyrei	he, dibenz $(a,h)$ ant	hracene, and total	benzofluoranth	thes (sum of b-,	j-, and k- isomer	s).
<sup>4</sup> Total dioxins/furans is a summed c	oncentration of 17 cong	geners.								
<sup>5</sup> Total polychlorinated biphenyls is <sup>6</sup>	a summed concentration	n of 209 congei	ners.							

32 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15



**Figure 8.** Particle-size distribution of (*A*) bed-sediment samples, sieved to less than 2 millimeters and (*B*) suspended-sediment samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

### **Instantaneous-Load Estimates**

Instantaneous chemical loads based on concentrations in unfiltered water and filtered water are summarized in table 9 and 10, respectively (see also tables A16 and A17). For most detected chemicals, loads were higher during storms than during baseline conditions because of high streamflow and high water concentrations. Streamflow (the median of 15-minute values during the sampling period) ranged from 970 to 2,090 ft<sup>3</sup>/s during baseline sampling periods, with a median (of the five periods) of 1,150 ft<sup>3</sup>/s. Storm-period median streamflow values ranged from 520 ft<sup>3</sup>/s during a summer storm to 4,610 ft<sup>3</sup>/s during a large winter storm, with a median (of the nine periods) of 1,970 ft<sup>3</sup>/s. The highest water-derived instantaneous chemical loads occurred during dam releases because of the high river streamflow (tables 9 and 10), even when chemical concentrations were less than concentrations measured during storm events. Dam-release median streamflow values ranged from 4,150 to 7,350 ft<sup>3</sup>/s, with a median (of the five periods) of  $6,770 \text{ ft}^3/\text{s}$ . The median streamflow value of the dam-release sampling periods was 3.4 times greater than the median streamflow value during storm sampling periods, and 5.9 times greater than during baseline sampling periods. Despite median PCB concentrations in unfiltered water that were highest during storm events,

followed by dam releases, and were lowest during baseline conditions, median PCB loads were more than 2 times higher during dam releases than storm periods, and more than 20 times higher during dam releases than baseline periods. Similarly, unfiltered-water arsenic loads were 6 times higher during dam releases than during storm periods, and more than 15 times higher during dam releases than during baseline periods.

Instantaneous suspended-sediment loads (table A18) ranged from 774 kg/hr during a low-precipitation baseline period to about 396,000 kg/hr during a dam release turbidity peak. Sediment loads were more than 10 times higher during storms than during baseline conditions and nearly 300 times higher during dam releases than during baseline conditions (table 11) owing to higher SSC and higher streamflow. Because of this, chemical loads estimated from suspendedsediment concentrations were the highest during dam releases, followed by storms, and the lowest loads were observed during baseline periods. Median suspended-sediment-bound PCB loads were two times higher during dam releases than during storm sampling, and more than 20 times higher during dam releases than baseline periods. Arsenic loads were 15 times higher during dam releases than during storm sampling, and more than 80 times higher during dam releases than during baseline periods.

Comparison of instantaneous unfiltered-water chemical loads between different sampling event types, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, Table 9. 2013-15. [This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup> criteria (an estimated maximum possible concentration is reported in "Result" column); U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is reported in "Result" column); UI, not detected above detection reported if more than one-half of the samples were not detected. cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-Parameter name: Median streamflow values calculated from 15-minute data at USGS 12113390 Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, WA. A median chemical value of less than the detection limit is weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); NJ, result did not meet all quantitation limit (detection limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: ft3/s, cubic foot per second; million L/hr, million liters per hour; kg/hr, kilogram per hour; g/hr, gram equivalent per hour; mg/hr, milligram per hour; na, not applicable; <, less than]

		Chomical			Sampling	period				Ratio	
Parameter name	Unit of measure	Abstracts Service	Baseli median (	ne, (n=5)	Storm median (	, (6=u	Dam rele median (	ease, n=5)	Storm to	Dam to	Dam to
		(CAS) No.	Result	a	Result	р	Result	а	baseline	baseline	storm
Streamflow, median during water sampling Streamflow, median during water sampling	ft <sup>3/S</sup> million L/hr	na na	1,150 117		1,970 201		6,770 691		1.7 1.7	5.9 5.9	3.4 3.4
			Organi	c carbon							
Total organic carbon	kg/hr	na	213		605		2,670		2.8	12	4.4
			W	etals							
Antimony	g/hr	7440-36-0	<1.17	n	<3.29	ſŊ	<7.50	ſſ	na	na	na
Arsenic	g/hr	7440-38-2	85.3		223		1,420		2.6	17	6.4
Barium	g/hr	7440-39-3	470		1,810		18,400		3.8	39	10
Beryllium	g/hr	7440-41-7	<2.35	ſŊ	<6.91	ſŊ	<58.0	Ŋ	na	na	na
Cadmium	g/hr	7440-43-9	<1.17	ſŊ	<3.46	ſŊ	45.1	J	na	na	na
Chromium	g/hr	7440-47-3	25.0	J	73.7		2,400		3.0	96	33
Cobalt	g/hr	7440-48-4	18.5	J	53.3		1,200		2.9	65	23
Copper	g/hr	7440-50-8	79.1		421		4,800		5.3	61	11
Lead	g/hr	7439-92-1	11.7		160		1,050		14	89	6.5
Manganese	g/hr	7439-96-5	9,070		12,900		93,000		1.4	10	7.2
Mercury	g/hr	7439-97-6	<0.305	ſŊ	<0.394	ſŊ	14.1	J	na	na	na
Molybdenum	g/hr	7439-98-7	<1.42	ſŊ	37.1		<6.99	ſŊ	na	na	na
Nickel	g/hr	7440-02-0	59.4		240		3,320		4.0	56	14
Selenium	g/hr	7782-49-2	<15.2	ſŊ	<26.1	ſŊ	<89.8	IJ	na	na	na
Silver	g/hr	7440-22-4	<0.989	ſŊ	<1.72	ſŊ	<7.50	IJ	na	na	na
Thallium	g/hr	7440-28-0	<.469	ſŊ	<0.802	ſŊ	<3.00	IJ	na	na	na
Vanadium	g/hr	7440-62-2	114		515		5,920		4.5	52	12
Zinc	g/hr	7440-66-6	<58.6	Ŋ	657		9,750		na	na	15
		Po	lycyclic arom	atic hydr	ocarbons						
LPAH <sup>1</sup>	g/hr	na	<0.868	ſŊ	<1.27	ſŊ	<5.17	IJ	na	na	na
HPAH <sup>2</sup>	g/hr	na	<0.493	ſŊ	1.25	ſ	<2.90	IJ	na	na	na
cPAH <sup>3</sup>	g/hr	na	<0.410	ſŊ	<1.05	ſŊ	<2.42	Ŋ	na	na	na
$cPAH^3$	g TEQ/hr	na	<0.215	ſŊ	<0.454	ſŊ	<1.26	Ŋ	na	na	na

Comparison of instantaneous unfiltered-water chemical loads between different sampling event types, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013-15.-Continued Table 9.

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup>. criteria (an estimated maximum possible concentration is reported in "Result" column); U, not detected above detection limit (reporting limit is reported in "Result" column); UI, not detected above detection reported if more than one-half of the samples were not detected. cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-Parameter name: Median streamflow values calculated from 15-minute data at USGS 12113390 Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, WA. A median chemical value of less than the detection limit is weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); NJ, result did not meet all quantitation limit (detection limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: ft3/s, cubic foot per second; million L/hr, million liters per hour; kg/hr, kilogram per hour; g/hr, gram per hour; g TEQ/hr, gram toxic

		Chemical			Sampling	period				Ratio	
Parameter name	Unit of measure	Abstracts Service	Baseli median	ne, (n=5)	Storn median	n , (n=9)	Dam rel median	ease, (n=5)	Storm to	Dam to	Dam to
		(CAS) No.	Result	р	Result	а	Result	а	baseline	baseline	storm
			Dioxin	s/furans							
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	mg/hr	na	151	ſ	7,460	5	11,300	Ŀ	49	75	1.5
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	mg TEQ/hr	na	0.66	ſ	218	ſ	699	ſ	2.2	6.8	3.1
	Pol	ychlorinated bip	henyls (by hi	gh-resol	ution mass sp	ectrome	etry)				
Total polychlorinated biphenyls <sup>5</sup>	mg/hr	1336-36-3	7.59	5	60.2	5	161	ŗ	7.9	21	2.7
Total monochloro biphenyls	mg/hr	27323-18-8	1.05		<3.63	IJ	<2.08	IJ	na	na	na
Total dichloro biphenyls	mg/hr	25512-42-9	0.712	ſ	<30.0	IJ	4.10		na	5.8	na
Total trichloro biphenyls	mg/hr	25323-68-6	0.855	ſ	2.28	ſ	7.65	ſ	2.7	9.0	3.4
Total tetrachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	26914-33-0	1.30	ſ	3.15	ſ	8.17	ſ	2.4	6.3	2.6
Total pentachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	25429-29-2	1.43	ſ	27.2	ſ	24.8	ſ	19	17	0.91
Total hexachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	26601-64-9	1.28	ſ	27.9		53.6	ſ	22	42	1.9
Total heptachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	28655-71-2	0.257	ſ	9.16		19.7	ſ	20	44	2.1
Total octachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	55722-26-4	0.276	ſ	3.25	ſ	4.53	ſ	12	16	1.4
Total nonachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	53742-07-7	<0.105	ſŊ	0.490	ſ	0.664	ſ	na	na	1.4
Total decachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	2051-24-3	0.215	ſ	<0.635	IJ	<1.78	Ŋ	na	na	na
Aroclor 1242	mg/hr	53469-21-9	<3.13	Ŋ	<2.68	IJ	<27.8	IJ	na	na	na
Aroclor 1254	mg/hr	11097-69-1	<2.43	ſZ	<5.34	Ŋ	<6.50	IJ	na	na	na
Aroclor 1260	mg/hr	11096-82-5	1.05	J	24.2		62.3	J	23	59	2.6
	Po	lychlorinated bip	henyls (by Ic	w-resolu	ution mass sp	ectrome	try)				
Aroclor 1242	mg/hr	53469-21-9	<292	ſŊ	<502	IJ	<1,730	IJ	na	na	na
Aroclor 1254	mg/hr	11097-69-1	<292	ſŊ	<502	Ŋ	<1,730	IJ	na	na	na
Aroclor 1260	mg/hr	11096-82-5	<328	Ŋ	<562	IJ	<1,930	IJ	na	na	na
<sup>1</sup> LPAH is a summed concentration of naphthalen	ne, acenaphthylene, a	cenaphthene, fluor	ene, phenanth	rene, and	anthracene.						
<sup>2</sup> HPAH is a summed concentration of fluoranthe	sne, pyrene, benz[ <i>a</i> ]aı	nthracene, chrysen	e, total benzof	luoranthe	nes (sum of b-,	j-, and k-	- isomers), benzo	[a]pyrene	, indeno[1,2,3- <i>c</i> ,	d]pyrene, dibeı	lzo[a,h]
anthracene, and benzo[ $g,h,i$ ]perylene.											

<sup>5</sup>Total polychlorinated biphenyls is a summed concentration of 209 congeners.

Comparison of instantaneous filtered-water loads between different sampling types, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15. Table 10.

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>sw</sup>. reported if more than one-half of the samples were not detected. cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-Parameter name: Median streamflow values calculated from 15-minute data at USGS 12113390 Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, WA. A median chemical value of less than the detection limit is weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); UJ, not detected above detection limit (detection limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: ft/s, cubic foot per second; million L/hr, million liters per hour; g/hr, kilogram per hour; g/hr, gram per hour; c, less than]

					Sampling	periods				Ratio	
Parameter name	Unit of measure	Chemical Abstracts	Baseli median	ne, (n=5)	Storn median (	, n=9)	Dam rel median	ease, (n=5)	Storm to	Dam to	Dam to
			Result	D	Result	D	Result	D	baseline	baseline	storm
Streamflow, median during water sampling Streamflow, median during water sampling	ft <sup>3/S</sup> million L/hr	na na	1,150 117		1,970 201		6,770 691		1.7	5.9 5.9	3. <del>3</del> . 4. £
			Orgai	nic carbo	u						
Dissolved organic carbon	kg/hr	na	255		430		1,810		1.7	7.1	4.2
			2	Aetals							
Antimony	g/hr	7440-36-0	<1.17	ſŊ	<3.46	ſŊ	19.3	ſ	na	na	na
Arsenic	g/hr	7440-38-2	59.4		103		276		1.7	4.7	2.7
Barium	g/hr	7440-39-3	340		450		967		1.3	2.8	2.1
Beryllium	g/hr	7440-41-7	<2.35	IJ	<6.00	IJ	<13.8	Ŋ	na	na	na
Cadmium	g/hr	7440-43-9	<1.17	IJ	<2.01	IJ	<6.91	ſŊ	na	na	na
Chromium	g/hr	7440-47-3	9.99	J	<12.0	Ŋ	6.69	J	na	7.0	na
Cobalt	g/hr	7440-48-4	23.5		40.8		349		1.7	15	8.6
Copper	g/hr	7440-50-8	70.4		154		622		2.2	8.8	4.0
Lead	g/hr	7439-92-1	<5.86	IJ	5.30		32.2	J	na	na	6.1
Manganese	g/hr	7439-96-5	7,270		3,980		7,900		0.5	1.1	2.0
Mercury	g/hr	7439-97-6	<0.370	IJ	<0.522	IJ	<1.80	ſŊ	na	na	na
Molybdenum	g/hr	7439-98-7	21.3	J	30.3		58.0	J	1.4	2.7	1.9
Nickel	g/hr	7440-02-0	50.4	J	76.2	J	238	J	1.5	4.7	3.1
Selenium	g/hr	7782-49-2	<15.2	Ŋ	<26.1	ſŊ	<89.8	ſŊ	na	na	na
Silver	g/hr	7440-22-4	<1.14	Ŋ	<1.72	ſŊ	<6.91	ſŊ	na	na	na
Thallium	g/hr	7440-28-0	<0.469	IJ	<0.802	ſŊ	<2.76	ſŊ	na	na	na
Vanadium	g/hr	7440-62-2	70.4		120		600		1.7	8.5	5.0
Zinc	g/hr	7440-66-6	<71.1	IJ	<173	ſŊ	<349	IJ	na	na	na

Comparison of instantaneous suspended-sediment chemical loads between different sampling event types, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, Table 11. 2013-15.

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers® (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup> reported if more than one-half of the samples were not detected. cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-Parameter name: Median streamflow values calculated from 15-minute data at USGS 12113390 Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, WA. A median chemical value of less than the detection limit is (detection limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: ft<sup>3</sup>/s, cubic foot per second; million L/hr, million liters per hour; kg/hr, kilogram per hour; g/hr, gram per hour; mg/hr, milligram per hour; mg/hr, mg/hr, milligram per hour; mg/hr, milligram per hour; mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); UJ, not detected above detection limit TEQ/hr, milligram toxic equivalent per hour; mg/hr, milligram per hour; na, not applicable]

		Chemical			Sampling p	oeriods				Ratio	
Parameter name	Unit of measure	Abstracts Service	Baseli median	ne, (n=5)	Storm, median (n	(6=	Dam rele median	ease, (n=5)	Storm to	Dam to	Dam to
		(CAS) No.	Result	a	Result	a	Result	a	baseline	baseline	storm
Streamflow, median during water sampling	ft <sup>3/S</sup>	na	1,180		2,090		6,760		1.8	5.7	3.2
Streamflow, median during water sampling	million L/hr	na	121		213		689		1.8	1.0	3.2
			Suspe	nded se	diment						
Suspended sediment	kg/hr	na	825		9,260		247,000		11	300	27
			Org	anic car	bon						
Total organic carbon	kg/hr	na	40.4		287		6,270	ſ	7.1	160	22
				Metals							
Arsenic	g/hr	7440-38-2	24.3		134		2,050		5.5	84	15
Barium	g/hr	7440-39-3	176		1,790		30,800		10	180	17
Beryllium	g/hr	7440-41-7	0.674	ſ	5.05	ſ	86.3		7.5	130	17
Cadmium	g/hr	7440-43-9	0.690		3.99		42.4	J	5.8	62	11
Chromium	g/hr	7440-47-3	34.2		326		6,490		10	190	20
Cobalt	g/hr	7440-48-4	14.0		120		2,960		8.6	210	25
Copper	g/hr	7440-50-8	53.6		475		8,140		8.9	150	17
Lead	g/hr	7439-92-1	22.9		172		2,000		7.5	87	12
Manganese	g/hr	7439-96-5	2,520		14,100		192,000		5.6	76	14
Mercury	g/hr	7439-97-6	0.157		1.09		24.7		6.9	160	23
Molybdenum	g/hr	7439-98-7	0.744	ſ	5.83		63.4	ſ	7.8	85	11
Nickel	g/hr	7440-02-0	31.6		339		6,780		11	210	20
Selenium	g/hr	7782-49-2	0.867	ſ	6.79	ſ	69.1	ſ	7.8	80	10
Silver	g/hr	7440-22-4	0.342	ſ	2.22	ſ	42.4	ſ	6.5	120	19
Thallium	g/hr	7440-28-0	0.157	ſ	1.51	ſ	26.4	ſ	10	170	18
Vanadium	g/hr	7440-62-2	86.2		855		15,500		10	180	18
Zinc	g/hr	7440-66-6	174		1,270		19,500		7.3	110	15
	Pc	olycyclic aroma	atic hydrocarb	ons and	other semivolat	ile comp	spuno				
LPAH <sup>1</sup>	mg/hr	na	163		1,210		9,470		7.4	58	7.8
HPAH <sup>2</sup>	mg/hr	na	711		6,830		31,100		10	44	4.6
cPAH <sup>3</sup>	mg/hr	na	392		4,010		17,400		10	44	4.3

Table 11	1. C	ompariso	on of i	insta	ntan	noəı	IS SI	nspe	snde	эс-ре	edim	nent (	cher	nical	load	ls be	etwe	ien di	iffere	nt sa	mplin	ng ev	ent tyl	pes, D	uwan	ish F	River	at Go	olf Cc	s asruc	at Tuk	wila,	Was	hingt	on,
2013-15.	0	ontinued	-																																
						0	ļ									,			i			i	i						i					i	

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers® (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup> reported if more than one-half of the samples were not detected. cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-Parameter name: Median streamflow values calculated from 15-minute data at USGS 12113390 Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, WA. A median chemical value of less than the detection limit is (detection limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: ft<sup>3</sup>/s, cubic foot per second; million L/hr, million liters per hour; kg/hr, kilogram per hour; g/hr, gram per hour; mg/hr, milligram per hour; mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, m weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); UJ, not detected above detection limit

		Chemical			Sampling	periods				Ratio	
Parameter name	Unit of measure	Abstracts Service	Baseli median	ne, (n=5)	Storn median (	ı, n=9)	Dam rele median (	ase, n=5)	Storm to	Dam to	Dam to
		(CAS) No.	Result	a	Result	а	Result	а	baseline	baseline	storm
	Polycyc	lic aromatic hyd	rocarbons ar	nd other s	emivolatile co	-spunodw	Continued				
cPAH <sup>3</sup>	mg TEQ/hr	na	72.4		830		3,360		11	46	4.0
1-Methylnaphthalene	mg/hr	90-12-0	7.90		148		2,890		19	370	20
2-Methylnaphthalene	mg/hr	91-57-6	13.8		148		3,540		11	260	24
Dibenzofuran	mg/hr	132-64-9	11.9		97.2		1,350		8.1	110	14
2-Methylphenol	mg/hr	95-48-7	<24.3	IJ	213		<2,200	IJ	na	na	10
4-Methylphenol	mg/hr	106-44-5	155		706	ſ	<5,550	IJ	4.5	na	na
Benzoic Acid	mg/hr	65-85-0	2,610	J	11,100		87,200		4.3	33	7.8
Benzyl Alcohol	mg/hr	100-51-6	898		7,300		67,400	ſ	8.1	75	9.2
<i>bis</i> (2-Ethylhexyl)phthalate	mg/hr	117-81-7	896		19,000		95,100		21	110	5.0
Butylbenzylphthalate	mg/hr	85-68-7	63.7		2,200		7,600		35	120	3.4
Di-n-Octyl phthalate	mg/hr	117-84-0	96.0		591		<2,070	IJ	6.2	na	na
Phenol	mg/hr	108-95-2	194		923		<3,170	IJ	4.8	na	na
				Butyltins							
Butyltin	mg/hr	78763-54-9	5.31		79.6		<791	IJ	15	na	na
Dibutyltin Ion	mg/hr	14488-53-0	<11.2	IJ	105		<988	IJ	na	na	na
Tributyltin Ion	mg/hr	36643-28-4	<1.70	UJ	<13.9	IJ	<395	IJ	na	na	na
			Dio	xins/fura	JS						
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	mg/hr	na	844		11,000		35,600		13	42	3.2
Total dioxins/furans <sup>4</sup>	mg TEQ/hr	na	5.41	J	45.1	ſ	235	J	8.3	43	5.2
		Polychlorinated	biphenyls (b	y high-res	olution mass :	spectrome	etry)				
Total polychlorinated biphenyls <sup>5</sup>	mg/hr	1336-36-3	12.0		103		249		8.6	21	2.4
Total monochloro biphenyls	mg/hr	27323-18-8	0.011		0.131		0.678		12	61	5.2
Total dichloro biphenyls	mg/hr	25512-42-9	0.161		2.15		10.2		13	64	4.8
Total trichloro biphenyls	mg/hr	25323-68-6	0.536		4.17		15.9		7.8	30	3.8
Total tetrachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	26914-33-0	1.42		13.2		31.6		9.3	22	2.4

Comparison of instantaneous suspended-sediment chemical loads between different sampling event types, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013-15.-Continued Table 11.

[This table contains CAS Registry Numbers<sup>®</sup> (CASRNs), which is a Registered Trademark of the American Chemical Society. CAS recommends the verification of the CASRNs through CAS Client Services<sup>SM</sup> reported if more than one-half of the samples were not detected. cPAH, carcinogenic polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. HPAH, high molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. LPAH, low molecular-Parameter name: Median streamflow values calculated from 15-minute data at USGS 12113390 Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, WA. A median chemical value of less than the detection limit is (detection limit is reported in "Result" column). Abbreviations: ft<sup>3</sup>/s, cubic foot per second; million L/hr, million liters per hour; kg/hr, kilogram per hour; g/hr, gram per hour; mg/hr, milligram per hour; mg/hr, mg/hr, milligram per hour; mg/hr, milligram per hour; mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr, mg/hr weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon. Q, qualifier: Blank cells indicate an unqualified detection; J, estimated (result between detection limit and reporting limit); UJ, not detected above detection limit TEQ/hr, milligram toxic equivalent per hour; mg/hr, milligram per hour; na, not applicable]

		Chemical			Sampling	periods				Ratio	
Parameter name	Unit of measure	Abstracts	Baseli median	ne, (n=5)	Storm median (	, 19)	Dam rele median (	ase, n=5)	Ctourn to		
		(CAS) No.	Result	D	Result	a	Result	a	baseline	baseline	storm
	Polych	Indrinated biphen	yls (by high-	-resolution	mass spectro	ometry)C	ontinued				
Total pentachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	25429-29-2	3.53		30.7		69.3		8.7	20	2.3
Total hexachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	26601-64-9	3.71		32.6		73.4		8.8	20	2.3
Total heptachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	28655-71-2	1.76		14.0		25.7		8.0	15	1.8
Total octachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	55722-26-4	0.622		5.06		12.5		8.1	20	2.5
Total nonachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	53742-07-7	0.150		1.20		3.44		8.0	23	2.9
Total decachloro biphenyls	mg/hr	2051-24-3	0.043		0.381		3.12		8.9	73	8.2
Aroclor 1242	mg/hr	53469-21-9	0.952		7.54		28.8		7.9	30	3.8
Aroclor 1254	mg/hr	11097-69-1	5.09		47.4		111		9.3	22	2.3
Aroclor 1260	mg/hr	11096-82-5	3.98		38.0		73.4		10	18	1.9
		Polychlorinated I	biphenyls (b	y low-reso	olution mass s	pectromet	(٨				
Aroclor 1242	mg/hr	53469-21-9	<2.14	IJ	<21.7	n	<327	n	na	na	na
Aroclor 1254	mg/hr	11097-69-1	15.7		370		<372	ſŊ	24	24	1.0
Aroclor 1260	mg/hr	11096-82-5	11.2		176		<197	Ŋ	16	18	1.1
<sup>1</sup> LPAH is a summed concentration of naphthalene	e, acenaphthylen	e, acenaphthene, flu	Jorene, phena	anthrene, an	id anthracene.						
<sup>2</sup> HPAH is a summed concentration of fluoranthen	ie, pyrene, benz[	<i>a</i> ]anthracene, chrys	sene, total bei	nzofluorantl	nenes (sum of b	-, j-, and k-	isomers), benzo	o[a]pyrene,	indeno[1,2,3- $c$	d]pyrene, dibe	nzo[a,h]

anthracene, and benzo[g,h,i]perylene.

 $^{3}$ cPAH is a summed concentration of benzo(a) anthracene, chrysene, benzo(a) pyrene, indeno(1,2,3-c,d) pyrene, dibenz(a,h) anthracene, and total benzoft uoranthenes (sum of b-, j-, and k- isomers). <sup>4</sup>Total dioxins/furans is a summed concentration of 17 congeners.

<sup>5</sup>Total polychlorinated biphenyls is a summed concentration of 209 congeners.

Data were collected between November 2013 and March 2015 by the U.S. Geological Survey to provide sediment and chemical concentrations and instantaneous load estimates to the Lower Duwamish Waterway from upstream sources transported by the Green River, Washington. During approximately 20 sampling periods including baseline conditions, storms, and dam releases, measurements of instantaneous streamflow and field parameters were made and samples were collected for analysis of unfiltered-water and filtered-water chemistry, suspended-sediment concentration, and suspended-sediment chemistry. Chemical concentrations in unfiltered water generally increased with increasing suspended-sediment concentration, resulting in the highest chemical concentrations during dam releases (for TOC and metals) and storms (for PAHs, dioxins/furans, and PCBs), as compared to baseline periods. Chemical concentrations in filtered water were similar across storms, dam releases, and baseline periods. This suggests that the sediment-bound chemicals are an important fraction of the unfiltered-water concentration. Chemical concentrations associated with suspended sediment generally were highest during storm periods as compared to both dam releases and baseline periods (for metals, PAHs, butyltins, pesticides, dioxins/ furans, and PCBs). Chemical concentrations on suspended sediment generally were higher than concentrations on fine bed sediment (less than  $62.5 \,\mu$ m), which were higher than bulk bed sediment (less than 2 mm). Streamflow and suspended-sediment concentration generally were highest during dam releases, followed by storm periods, and lowest during baseline periods. This resulted in higher sediment and chemical-loading estimates during dam releases than storm sampling, both of which were greater than load estimates

## Acknowledgments

during baseline periods.

**Summary** 

This work was completed under USGS-Ecology Interagency Agreement 14WNWA30005. We are grateful to Curt Chandler and staff at the Foster Golf Course in Tukwila, Washington, for access and use of the bridge and facilities throughout the project. The following USGS employees and volunteers provided invaluable field and laboratory help: Andrew Gendaszek, Raegan Huffman, Greg Justin, Cameron Marshall, Karen Payne, Amber Powell, Rich Sheibley, Andrew Spanjer, David Steele, and Alison Tecca. We are indebted to the USGS peer-reviewers for their insightful comments which greatly improved the quality of the report. We thank Karin Feddersen at Ecology's Manchester Environmental Laboratory for managing the contracts with the analytical laboratories, providing data validation, and providing guidance and recommendations regarding quality assurance and quality control measures throughout the project.

### **References Cited**

- Analytical Resources, Inc., 2014, Quality assurance plan: Analytical Resources, Inc., Revision 014-004, accessed July 29, 2015, at http://arilabs.com/?page\_id=11.
- AXYS Analytical, Ltd., 2015, Quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) policies and procedures manual: AXYS Analytical, Ltd., QDO-001 Revision No. 25, 171 p.
- California Environmental Protection Agency, 2005, Air toxics hot spots program risk assessment guidelines, Part II— Technical support document for describing available cancer potency factors: Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, California Environmental Protection Agency, 587 p.
- Conn, K.E., and Black, R.W., 2013, Quality assurance project plan—Assessing sediment and toxic chemical loads from the Green River, WA to the Lower Duwamish Waterway: U.S. Geological Survey, prepared for Washington State Department of Ecology, 56 p., accessed April 3, 2015, at http://wa.water.usgs.gov/projects/riverloads/publications. htm.
- Conn, K.E., and Black, R.W., 2014, Data compilation for assessing sediment and toxic chemical loads from the Green River to the lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington: U.S. Geological Survey Data Series 880, 46 p., accessed July 29, 2015, at http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/ds880.
- Davis, B.E., 2005, A guide to the proper selection and use of federally approved sediment and water-quality samplers: U.S. Geological Survey Open File Report 2005-1087, 20 p., accessed February 1, 2013, at http://pubs.usgs.gov/ of/2005/1087/.
- Edwards, T.K., and Glysson, G.D., 1999, Field methods for measurement of fluvial sediment: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 3, chap. C2, accessed December 4, 2012, at http://pubs.usgs. gov/twri/twri3-c2/html/pdf.html.
- Gries, Tom, and Sloan, Janice, 2009, Contaminant loading to the lower Duwamish Waterway from suspended sediment in the Green River: Washington State Department of Ecology, Environmental Assessment Program, Report No. 09-03-028, 118 p., accessed February 1, 2013, at https://fortress. wa.gov/ecy/publications/summarypages/0903028.html.
- Guy, H.P., 1969, Laboratory theory and methods for sediment analysis: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 5, chap. C1, accessed September 10, 2013, at http://pubs.usgs.gov/twri/twri5c1/ html/pdf.html.

#### 42 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

Helsel, D.R. and Hirsch, R.M., 2002, Statistical methods in water resources: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 4, chapter A3, 522 p., accessed August 5, 2015, at http://pubs.usgs.gov/twri/ twri4a3/.

Krone, C.A., Brown, D.W., Burrows, D.G., Chan, S-L, and Varanasi, U.,1989, Butyltins in sediment from marinas and waterways in Puget Sound, Washington State, USA: Marine Pollution Bulletin, v. 20, no. 10, p. 528–531.

Levesque, V.A., and Oberg, K.A., 2012, Computing discharge using the index velocity method: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods 3-A23, 148 p., accessed March 23, 2015, at http://pubs.usgs.gov/tm/3a23/.

Lower Duwamish Waterway Group, 2008, Lower Duwamish Waterway sediment transport modeling report: Montvale, New Jersey, Quantitative Environmental Analysis, LLC, Prepared for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (Region 10—Seattle, Wash.) and Washington State Department of Ecology (Northwest Regional Office, Bellevue, Wash.), accessed December 4, 2012, at http:// www.ldwg.org/rifs\_docs4.htm#stm.

Lower Duwamish Waterway Group, 2012, Final feasibility study—Lower Duwamish Waterway, Seattle, Washington: Seattle, Wash., AECOM, Prepared for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (Region 10–Seattle, Wash.) and Washington State Department of Ecology (Northwest Regional Office, Bellevue, Wash.), accessed May 19, 2014, at http://yosemite.epa.gov/R10/CLEANUP.NSF/LDW/Low er+Duwamish+Waterway+Superfund+Site+Technical+Doc uments#FS

Mueller, D.S., Wagner, C.R., Rehmel, M.S., Oberg, K.A., and Rainville, Francois, 2009, Measuring discharge with acoustic Doppler current profilers from a moving boat: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods, book 3, chap. A22, 72 p., accessed February 1, 2013, at http://pubs.water. usgs.gov/tm3a22.

Plumb, R.H., Jr., 1981, Procedures for handling and chemical analysis of sediment and water samples: Vicksburg, Miss., Environmental Laboratory, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station Technical Committee on Criteria for Dredged and Fill Material, Contract No. EPA-4805572010, 507 p.

Puget Sound Estuary Program, 1986, Recommended protocols for measuring conventional sediment variables in Puget Sound: Bellevue, Wash., Tetra Tech, Inc., prepared for U.S. Environmental Protection Agency and Puget Sound Water Quality Authority, 44 p.

Radtke, D.B., 2005, Bottom-material samples (ver. 1.1): U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A8, accessed December 4, 2012, at http://pubs.water.usgs.gov/twri9A8/. Rushneck, D., Beliveau, A., Fowler, B., Hamilton, M.C., Hoover, D., Kaye, K., Berg, M., Smith, T., Telliard, W., Roman, H., Ruder, E., and Ryan, E., 2004, Concentrations of dioxin-like congeners in unweathered Aroclors by HRGC-HRMS using EPA Method 1668A: *Chemosphere*, v. 54, p. 79–87.

Schulz, D.E., Petrick, G., and Duinker, J.C., 1989, Complete characterization of polychlorinated biphenyl congeners in commercial Aroclor and Clophen mixtures by multidimensional gas chromatography-electron capture detection: *Environmental Science and Technololgy*, v. 23, p. 852–859.

Shelton, L.R., 1997, Field guide for collecting samples for analysis of volatile organic compounds in stream water for the National Water-Quality Assessment Program: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 1997–401, 14 p., accessed February 1, 2013, at http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/ publication/ofr97401.

Shelton, L.R., and Capel, P.D., 1994, Guidelines for collecting and processing samples of stream bed sediment for analysis of trace elements and organic contaminants for the National Water-Quality Assessment Program: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 94-458, accessed December 4, 2012, at http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/publication/ofr94458.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2008, U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency Contract Laboratory Program National functional guidelines for superfund organic methods data review: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Superfund Remediation and Technology Innovation, Contract No. EPA-540-R-08-01, 225 p., accessed November 25, 2013, at http://www.epa. gov/superfund/programs/clp/guidance.htm.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009, Guidance for labeling externally validated laboratory analytical data for superfund use: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Contract No. EPA-540-R-08-005, 29 p., accessed November 25, 2013, at http://www.epa.gov/superfund/programs/clp/ guidance.htm.

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2010, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Contract Laboratory Program National functional guidelines for inorganic superfund data review: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Superfund Remediation and Technology Innovation (OSRTI), Contract No. EPA-540-R-10-011, 110 p., accessed November 25, 2013 at http://www.epa.gov/ superfund/programs/clp/guidance.htm.

- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2011, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Contract Laboratory Program National functional guidelines for chlorinated dibenzo-*p*-dioxins and chlorinated dibenzofurans (CDFs) data review: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Office of Superfund Remediation and Technology Innovation (OSRTI), Contract No. EPA-540-R-11-016, 62 p., accessed November 25, 2013, at http://www.epa.gov/superfund/ programs/clp/guidance.htm.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015, Wastes— Hazardous waste—Test methods—SW-846 on-line: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, accessed July 15, 2015, at http://www.epa.gov/wastes/hazard/testmethods/sw846/ online/index.htm.
- U.S. Geological Survey, 2006, Collection of water samples (ver. 2.0): U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A4, accessed July 29, 2015, at http://pubs.water.usgs.gov/twri9A4/.
- Van den Berg and others, 2006, The 2005 World Health Organization re-evaluation of human and mammalian toxic equivalency factors for dioxins and dioxin-like compounds: Toxicological Sciences, v. 93, no. 2, p. 223–241.
- Wagner, R.J., Kimbrough, R.A., and Turney, G.L., 2007, Quality-assurance plan for water-quality activities in the U.S. Geological Survey Washington Water Science Center: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2007-1307, 48 p., accessed December 4, 2012, at http://pubs.er.usgs.gov/ publication/ofr20071307.
- Washington State Department of Ecology, 2008, Sediment sampling and analysis plan appendix—Guidance on the development of sediment sampling and analysis plans meeting the requirements of the sediment management standards: Toxics Cleanup Program, Washington State Department of Ecology Publication No. 03-09-043, p. E-10–E-11, accessed December 4, 2012, at https://fortress. wa.gov/ecy/publications/summarypages/0309043.html.

- Washington State Department of Ecology, 2015, Environmental information management: Washington State Department of Ecology, accessed XX, 2015, at http://www. ecy.wa.gov/eim/.
- Wilde, F.D., ed., variously dated, Field measurements: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A6, accessed August 25, 2015, at http://pubs.water.usgs.gov/twri9A6/.
- Wilde, F.D., ed., 2004, Cleaning of equipment for water sampling (ver. 2.0): U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A3, accessed July 29, 2015, at http://pubs.water.usgs.gov/twri9A3/.
- Wilde, F.D., ed., 2005, Preparations for water sampling: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A1, accessed July 29, 2015, at http://pubs.water.usgs.gov/twri9A1/.
- Wilde, F.D., Radtke, D.B., Gibs, Jacob, and Iwatsubo, R.T., eds., 2004 with updates through (ver. 2.2): U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A5, accessed December 4, 2012, at http://pubs. water.usgs.gov/twri9A5/.
- Wilde, F.D., Sandstrom, M.W., and Skrobialowski, S.C., 2014, Selection of equipment for water sampling (ver. 3.1):
  U.S. Geological Survey Techniques of Water-Resources Investigations, book 9, chap. A2, accessed July 29, 2015, at http://pubs.water.usgs.gov/twri9A2/.

#### 44 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

This page left intentionally blank

# Appendix A. Analytical Laboratory Qualifier Descriptions, Result Amendments, and Complete Analytical Chemistry Results

Data qualifiers were used by each of the two analytical chemistry laboratories, and amendments were made to these qualifiers to be consistent with Washington State Department of Ecology protocols.

The following qualifiers were used by Analytical Resources, Inc. (ARI):

B Analyte detected in an associated method blank.

J Estimated concentration when the value is less than the ARI established reporting limits: result is greater than the reporting limit [RL] and less than the detection limit [DL].

P The analyte was detected on both chromatographic columns but the quantified values differ by 40 percent or more relative percent difference with no obvious chromatographic interference.

Q A detected analyte with an initial or continuing calibration that does not meet established acceptance criteria (less than 20 percent Relative Standard Deviation, less than 20 percent drift, or minimum Relative Response Factor).

U Indicates that the target analyte was not detected at the DL and the RL is reported.

Y The analyte was not detected at or above the RL. The RL was raised due to chromatographic interference. The Y flag is equivalent to the U flag with a raised reporting limit.

The following qualifiers were used by AXYS Analytical, Ltd.:

B Analyte detected in the sample at less than 10 times the concentration in the associated blank.

C Congener co-elution.

D Dilution data.

J Indicates an estimated value where the concentration of the analyte is less than the RL, but greater than the DL.

NJ Results were qualified with "NJ" for one of two reasons: (1) Disturbance of the mass ion used to monitor instrument performance (lock-mass) present. Under the normal AXYS flagging convention, this would have been reported as "G." (2) A peak was detected that did not meet all the criteria for identification as the target analyte; the reported value is the estimated maximum possible concentration. Under the normal AXYS flagging convention, this would have been reported as "K."

R Not quantifiable. Under AXYS' normal flagging convention, this would have been reported as "NQ."

T Result recalculated against alternate labeled compound(s) or internal standard.

UJ Not detected at DL and the DL is reported. Under the normal AXYS flagging convention, this would have been reported as "U."

Differences between various laboratory and agency protocols for coding analytical data to address measurement considerations and (or) abnormalities are common. Adjustments to the laboratory-provided qualifiers from labs used in this study were made to be consistent with the Ecology Toxics Cleanup Program data reporting protocols (Washington State Department of Ecology, 2008), as outlined in the EPA Functional Guidelines (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2008, 2009, 2010, and 2011). Data that had been flagged or qualified by the laboratory or during the Level 2 or Level 4 review process with qualifiers other than U-, J-, and N-containing qualifiers were amended following these protocols:

For AXYS:

B qualifiers were changed to UJ.

T qualifiers were changed to J.

- Informational qualifiers (C and D) were removed for ease of viewing.
- When multiple qualifiers were reported, only the most conservative qualifier was reported (that is, NJ or UJ)

#### For ARI:

Y qualifiers were changed to U.

Q and P qualifiers were changed to J.

B qualifiers were removed or changed according to the following rules:

If the sample concentration is greater than or equal to five times the associated lab blank, sample results are considered as positive without qualifiers (action: remove B). For metals and common laboratory contaminants (acetone, 2-butanone, methylene chloride, toluene, phthalate esters), 10 times was used instead of 5 times.

If the sample concentration was less than 5 times (less than 10 times was used for metals and common laboratory contaminants) the associated lab blank, it was reported at the detected sample concentration with a U qualifier.

Field tasks by sampling date are presented in table A1. Field conditions during bridge-based sampling and bedsediment sampling are presented in tables A2 and A3, respectively. The data presented in tables A4–A18 are the quality control results and the complete results from Analytical Resources, Inc. and AXYS Analytical, Ltd., with amended qualifiers by the USGS. Tables A1–A18 is a Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Excel file that can be downloaded from http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/ ds973.

#### 46 Chemical Concentrations and Instantaneous Loads, Green River to Lower Duwamish Waterway, Washington, 2013–15

**Table A1.**Field tasks and sampling dates at Duwamish River atGolf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A2.** General hydrology, water quality, and field conditions during bridge-based sampling at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A3.** General hydrology and field sampling conditions during the bed-sediment sampling dates at Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A4.**Concentrations of organic carbon, hexavalentchromium, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and othersemivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides, volatile organiccompounds, dioxins/furans, and polychlorinated biphenyls inunfiltered-water samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course atTukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A5.**Concentrations of organic carbon and metals infiltered-water samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila,Washington, 2013–15.

Table A6.Concentrations of organic carbon, hexavalentchromium, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and othersemivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides, volatile organiccompounds, dioxins/furans, polychlorinated biphenyl congenersand Aroclors in suspended-sediment samples, Duwamish River atGolf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A7.** Concentrations or percent of organic carbon,hexavalent chromium, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbonsand other semivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides, volatileorganic compounds, dioxins/furans, polychlorinated biphenyls,and particle-size distribution in bed-sediment samples, DuwamishRiver at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A8.** Concentrations of organic carbon, hexavalentchromium, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and othersemivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides, volatile organiccompounds, and polychlorinated biphenyl Aroclors in trip blankand equipment blank water samples, Duwamish River at GolfCourse at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A9.**Concentrations of dioxins/furans and polychlorinatedbiphenyls in trip blank and equipment blank water samples,Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A10.**Concentrations of volatile organic compounds in<br/>unfiltered-water trip blank samples, Duwamish River at Golf<br/>Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

Table A11.Concentrations or percent of organic carbon,<br/>hexavalent chromium, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons<br/>and other semivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides, dioxins/<br/>furans, polychlorinated biphenyls in suspended-sediment quality<br/>assurance samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila,<br/>Washington, 2013–15.

Table A12.Concentrations or percent of organic carbon,<br/>hexavalent chromium, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons<br/>and other semivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides,<br/>polychlorinated biphenyls, volatile organic compounds, and<br/>particle size distribution in centrifuge recovery experiment<br/>samples, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington,<br/>2013–15.

Table A13.Concentrations of organic carbon, hexavalent<br/>chromium, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and<br/>other semivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides, volatile<br/>organic compounds, dioxins/furans, polychlorinated biphenyls<br/>in concurrent replicate water samples, Duwamish River at Golf<br/>Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A14.** Concentrations or percent of organic carbon, hexavalent chromium, metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and other semivolatile compounds, butyltins, pesticides, volatile organic compounds, dioxins/furans, polychlorinated biphenyls, and particle-size distribution in bed sediment field split samples sieved to less than two millimeters, Duwamish River at Golf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A15.** Quality-assurance results for the Puget SoundSediment Reference Material, Duwamish River at Golf Course atTukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A16.**Instantaneous chemical loads based onconcentrations in unfiltered-water samples, Duwamish River atGolf Course at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

Table A17.Instantaneous chemical loads based onconcentrations in filtered-water samples, Duwamish River at GolfCourse at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

**Table A18.**Instantaneous chemical loads based onconcentrations on suspended sediment, Duwamish River at GolfCourse at Tukwila, Washington, 2013–15.

Publishing support provided by the U.S. Geological Survey Science Publishing Network, Tacoma Publishing Service Center

For more information concerning the research in this report, contact the Director, Washington Water Science Center U.S. Geological Survey 934 Broadway, Suite 300 Tacoma, Washington 98402 http://wa.water.usgs.gov

ISSN 2327-638X (online) http://dx.doi.org/10.3133/ds973